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1 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: I t i s 9:00. We are i n 

2 Porter H a l l , i n Santa Fe, New Mexico. This i s the 

3 meeting of the O i l Conservation Commission. A l l three 

4 Commissioners are present, so there i s a quorum. 

5 To my r i g h t i s Scott Dawson, designee of the 

6 Commissioner of Public Lands. To my l e f t i s Dr. Robert 

7 Balch, who i s the designee of the Secretary of the 

8 Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources Department. And 

9 t o h i s l e f t i s B i l l Brancard, General Counsel f o r the 

10 Commission today. 

11 Mr. Dawson, you have something you'd l i k e t o 

12 say? 

13 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: Yes. I had a 

14 question f o r a l l p a r t i e s i n v o l v e d . I ' l l ask the 

15 Commissioners -- f i r s t I ' l l t e l l you what the problem i s , 

16 and then I ' l l ask the Commissioners, and then I ' l l ask 

17 you, the members and the a p p l i c a n t , i f there's a problem 

18 w i t h my s i t u a t i o n . 

19 And the s i t u a t i o n i s t h a t c u r r e n t l y I'm 

20 working f o r the State Land O f f i c e . But the O i l 

21 Conservation D i v i s i o n has a jo b opening f o r a deputy 

22 d i r e c t o r , and I've app l i e d f o r t h a t j o b p o s i t i o n . 

23 And I j u s t wanted t o make sure w i t h a l l 

24 p a r t i e s , both the Commissioners and the a p p l i c a n t , i f 

25 there was any k i n d of c o n f l i c t t h a t would a r i s e from the 
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1 f a c t of me applying f o r the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n . 

2 And f i r s t I wanted t o ask the Commissioners i f 

3 they have any c o n f l i c t w i t h t h a t , w i t h me s i t t i n g i n on 

4 t h i s case and hearing t h i s case? 

5 COMMISSIONER BALCH: Maybe I'm a l i t t l e 

6 simple about i t , but r i g h t now, you work f o r the State 

7 Land O f f i c e , and you're designated by the Land 

8 Commission, so I don't see a c o n f l i c t . 

9 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I haven't been h i r e d 

10 yet by the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n , and I don't know i f 

11 I w i l l be h i r e d by the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n , but I 

12 have a p p l i e d w i t h the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n . 

13 COMMISSIONER BALCH: Again, you're working 

14 f o r the State Land O f f i c e and you're the designee, and 

15 you're not working f o r the OCD. I don't see a c o n f l i c t . 

16 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: I have absolute - f a i t h 

17 t h a t you w i l l discharge whatever duty there i s i n t h i s 

18 case w i t h the understanding t h a t you are working f o r the 

19 Land O f f i c e and p r i m a r i l y l o o k i n g out f o r the 

20 b e n e f i c i a r i e s of the s t a t e t r u s t . 

21 So I am confident t h a t you have t h a t a b i l i t y 

22 t o discharge the r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s t h a t you have been 

23 given as the designee of the Land O f f i c e . 

24 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: Okay. Mr. Larson, 

25 do you have a r e b u t t a l ? 
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1 MR. LARSON: I see no c o n f l i c t whatsoever. 

2 Thank you f o r r a i s i n g i t , though. 

3 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: Thank you. 

4 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: We have minutes of 

5 previous hearings t h a t we need t o sign o f f on. We have 

6 minutes of the meeting t h a t was held on September 13th, 

7 2012, i n which I d i d not p a r t i c i p a t e . 

8 Commissioners Balch and Dawson were the 

9 Commissioners f o r t h a t hearing. And I ask i f you have 

10 read the minutes as they were prepared by the Commission 

11 Clerk? 

12 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have. 

13 COMMISSIONER BALCH: And I have. 

14 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Do you have any 

15 comments, or do I hear a motion t o sign t h i s ? 

16 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l motion. 

17 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I ' l l second. 

18 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l those i n favor? 

19 I do not vote because I was not a member. 

20 Commissioner Balch, as Act i n g Chairman f o r 

21 t h a t day, you have the r e s p o n s i b i l i t y t o sign those 

22 minutes. 

23 And we also have the minutes of the meeting of 

24 the Commission held on September 24th through the 27th, 

25 and October 1st, 4th and 5th. Those meetings d e a l t 
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1 p r i m a r i l y w i t h the Rule 17 d e l i b e r a t i o n s t h a t are 

2 ongoing. 

3 Have the Commissioners had a chance t o read 

4 the minutes as d r a f t e d by the Commission Clerk? 

5 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I have. 

6 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: And I d i d . 

7 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Do I hear a motion t o 

8 adopt these minutes? 

9 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l motion. 

10 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I ' l l second. 

11 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l those i n favor 

12 s i g n i f y by saying aye. 

13 And I w i l l s ign on behalf of the Commission. 

14 Then we have an order i n Case 14763, which was 

15 the a p p l i c a t i o n of Mack Energy Corporation f o r compulsory 

16 p o o l i n g . 

17 Commissioners, have you had a chance t o review 

18 the d r a f t order as i t was prepared? 

19 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have. 

20 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I have, also. 

21 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Do I hear a motion t o 

22 accept and sign the order of the Commission i n t h i s case? 

23 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l motion. 

24 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I w i l l second. 

25 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l those i n favor 
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1 s i g n i f y by saying aye. 

2 Then y o u ' l l sign t h a t order. 

3 Commission Counsel, should I even sign t h a t , 

4 since I was not a p a r t i c i p a n t i n t h a t hearing? 

5 MR. BRANCARD: Yeah. You can j u s t 

6 i n d i c a t e t h a t you were not a p a r t i c i p a n t on there. 

7 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Okay. A l l documents 

8 w i l l be given t o the Commission Clerk f o r d i s t r i b u t i o n . 

9 Before us today we have Case 14720, which i s 

10 Agave Energy Company's amended second motion t o amend 

11 Order Number R-13507. And I ' l l c a l l f o r appearances. 

12 MR. LARSON: Gary Larson, of Hinkle, 

13 Hensley, Shanor & Martin, on behalf of Agave Energy 

14 Company. I have two witnesses. 

15 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Thank you. S h a l l you 

16 c a l l your f i r s t witness? 

17 MR. LARSON: A c t u a l l y , I have a b r i e f 

18 opening statement. 

19 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l r i g h t . 

20 MR. LARSON: May I proceed? 

21 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Yes. Please do. 

22 MR. LARSON: Madam Chair, Commissioners, 
i 

23 as you're aware, t h i s i s the second time Agave has 

24 

• 
requested a m o d i f i c a t i o n of the requirement i n Order 

25 Number R-13507 t h a t Agave re-enter and re-plug f o u r 
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1 plugged and abandoned w e l l s i n the v i c i n i t y of the Red 

2 H i l l s AGI Number 1 w e l l . 

3 The f i r s t time Agave requested r e l i e f from the 

4 requirement t h a t i t re-plug the Smith Federal Number 1 

5 was based on the w e l l ' s c u r r e n t plugging c o n f i g u r a t i o n 

6 and i t s distance from the AGI w e l l . 

7 Agave's present request f o r r e l i e f i s 

8 d i f f e r e n t , i n t h a t i t ' s based on a c t u a l wellbore 

9 c o n d i t i o n s i n the Government L Com Number 2 w e l l t h a t 

10 n e i t h e r the Commission nor Agave could have a n t i c i p a t e d , 

11 based on a v a i l a b l e plugging records. 

12 A d d i t i o n a l l y , Agave's request i s based on new 

13 data generated by Agave which i s derived from i n l e t gas 

14 t h a t i t a c t u a l l y received at i t s Red H i l l s Gas Processing 

15 Plant, i n j e c t i o n t e s t i n g conducted during Agave's 

16 successful r e - e n t r y and re-plugging of the Sims Number 1 

17 w e l l , and new modeling demonstrating t h a t the radius of 

18 the i n j e c t i o n plume a f t e r 30 years w i l l be 0.30 miles, 

19 r a t h e r than the 0.3 9 radius i n d i c a t e d i n the Commission's 

20 i n i t i a l order. 

21 You're going t o hear testimony t h i s morning 

22 t h a t Agave spent 22 days and $500,000 attempting t o 

23 re-enter the Government L Com Number 2 w e l l before 

24 reaching the conclusion t h a t i t was impossible t o reach 

25 the depth necessary t o place a balance plug across the 
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1 i n j e c t i o n zone. And t h a t conclusion was shared by E.L. 

2 Gonzales, i n the OCD's D i s t r i c t 1 o f f i c e , and by W i l l 

3 Jones, i n the Santa Fe o f f i c e , who are both experts i n 

4 i n j e c t i o n w e l l matters. 

5 And at the p o i n t Agave r e a l i z e d i t was not 

6 f e a s i b l e t o reach the depth necessary t o place the 

7 balance plug, i t faced a dilemma. I t s only o p t i o n was t o 

8 terminate the r e - e n t r y e f f o r t s , yet Agave was bound by 

9 the Commission's requirement t o i n s t a l l the balance plug. 

10 And i t was without a means t o immediately o b t a i n 

11 Commission approval of the t e r m i n a t i o n of the r e - e n t r y . 

12 And l e f t w i t h no other v i a b l e o p t i o n , Agave 

13 terminated i t s r e - e n t r y e f f o r t s and then f i l e d what was 

14 c a l l e d i t s second motion t o amend Order Number R-13507 

15 requesting the Commission t o r e l i e v e Agave of the balance 

16 plug requirement. 

17 And soon a f t e r Agave f i l e d t h a t motion, the 

18 D i v i s i o n entered an appearance i n the case and engaged i n 

19 discussions w i t h A l b e r t o Gutierrez, of Geolex, and 

2 0 myself, regarding the p r o x i m i t y of the Government Number 

21 2 w e l l t o the outer edge of the plume, which i s i n d i c a t e d 

22 t o be .39 miles i n the i n i t i a l order. 

23 And several subsequent developments then 

24 changed the p i c t u r e . F i r s t , Agave evaluated new i n l e t 

25 gas data and determined t h a t the composition of the 
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1 Treated Acid Gas, which I ' l l r e f e r t o as TAG, would be 

2 99.8 percent C02 and .2 percent H2S, and t h a t the average 

3 i n j e c t i o n r a t e of TAG over the 3 0-year l i f e span of i t s 

4 i n j e c t i o n a u t h o r i t y w i l l be 14 percent less than Agave 

5 o r i g i n a l l y a n t i c i p a t e d . 

6 Secondly, Agave conducted i n j e c t i o n t e s t i n g 

7 durin g the r e - e n t r y of the Sims Number 1 w e l l t h a t 

8 demonstrated t h a t i t s i n j e c t i v i t y p r o j e c t i o n s were o v e r l y 

9 conservative and t h a t the r e s e r v o i r has s i g n i f i c a n t l y 

10 more capacity than i t o r i g i n a l l y a n t i c i p a t e d . 

11 And t h i r d , Agave performed new modeling based 

12 on t h i s data which r e s u l t e d i n a 25 percent decrease i n 

13 the radius of the i n j e c t i o n plume a f t e r 3 0 years. 

14 And Agave presented the OCD w i t h the new i n l e t 

15 gas data, the i n j e c t i o n t e s t r e s u l t s and the new 

16 modeling. And the ensuing discussions between Agave and 

17 the OCD r e s u l t e d i n an agreement t h a t there i s no t h r e a t 

18 t h a t TAG i n j e c t e d by Agave w i l l migrate i n t o the 

19 Government L Com Number 1 and Number 2 wellbores, and 

20 t h a t the Commission should amend Order R-13507 by 

21 e l i m i n a t i n g the requirements t h a t Agave place a balance 

22 p l ug i n the Number 2 w e l l across the i n j e c t i o n zone and 

23 re-enter and re-plug the Number 1 w e l l . 

24 And t h a t agreement was e v e n t u a l l y memorialized 

25 i n a w r i t t e n s t i p u l a t i o n which G a b r i e l l e Gerholt has 
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1 executed on behalf of the OCD and I have signed on behalf 

2 of Agave. 

3 F i n a l l y , Agave w i l l present s u b s t a n t i a l and 

4 unopposed evidence demonstrating t h a t i t should be 

5 r e l i e v e d of the re-plugging requirements f o r the 

6 Government L Com Number 1 and Number 2 w e l l s , and 

7 p r o v i d i n g the Commission complete confidence i n 

8 concluding t h a t there's no t h r e a t whatsoever of i n j e c t e d 

9 TAG m i g r a t i n g i n t o the welbores. 

10 And before I c a l l my f i r s t witness, I ' d l i k e 

11 t o draw your a t t e n t i o n t o the document marked as E x h i b i t 

12 Number 1, which i s the w r i t t e n s t i p u l a t i o n between Agave 

13 and the OCD. 

14 And Madam Chair, I have the o r i g i n a l of the 

15 s t i p u l a t i o n , i f you'd l i k e t o place t h a t i n the record. 

16 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Yes. 

17 MR. LARSON: And I would move the 

18 admission of E x h i b i t 1 i n t o the record. 

19 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Any objections? 

20 Then i t i s so admitted. 

21 ( E x h i b i t 1 was admitted.) 

22 MR. LARSON: Thank you. 

23 I would c a l l Mr. Ivan V i l l a as my f i r s t 

24 witness. 

25 THE WITNESS: Good morning. 
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1 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Good morning. 

2 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Would you please stand 

3 t o be sworn? 

4 IVAN VILLA 

5 Having been f i r s t duly sworn, t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

7 BY MR. LARSON: 

8 Q. Please s t a t e your f u l l name f o r the record. 

9 A. Ivan V i l l a . 

10 Q. By whom are you employed, and i n what 

11 capacity? 

12 A. I am the engineering manager f o r Agave Energy 

13 Company. 

14 Q. Did you t e s t i f y before the Commission duri n g 

15 the previous two hearings i n t h i s case? 

16 A. I d i d . 

17 Q. Did the Commission q u a l i f y you as an expert i n 

18 engineering d u r i n g each of those hearings? 

19 A. They d i d . 

2 0 MR. LARSON: Madam Chair, I request t h a t 

21 Mr. V i l l a be q u a l i f i e d as an expert engineer f o r the 

22 purposes of today's hearing. 

23 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Yes, he i s . 

24 MR. LARSON: Thank you. 

25 Q. (By Mr. Larson) Do you r e c a l l t e s t i f y i n g at 
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1 the June 28th hearing i n t h i s case t h a t Agave would 

2 complete c o n s t r u c t i o n of i t s Red H i l l s gas p l a n t on 

3 September 1st of t h i s year and commission the p l a n t on 

4 October 1st? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Did Agave meet those p r o j e c t e d dates? 

7 A. We d i d not meet those p r o j e c t e d dates. 

8 Q. What i s the cu r r e n t goal f o r commissioning the 

9 plant? 

10 A. The c u r r e n t goal f o r commissioning i s by the 

11 end of December 2012. 

12 Q. And has the c o n t i n u i n g p l a n t development 

13 changed Agave's t i m e l i n e f o r d r i l l i n g the Red H i l l s AGI 

14 Number 1 well? 

15 A. I t has not. We're s t i l l on schedule f o r 

16 d r i l l i n g of the w e l l i n the t h i r d quarter of 2013. 

17 Q. What r e l i e f i s Agave requesting i n i t s amended 

18 second motion t o amend Order Number 13507? 

19 A. To remove the requirement f o r s e t t i n g the 

20 balance plug i n the Government Number 2. And also, 

21 removing the Government Number 1 from the plugging l i s t . 

22 Q. And the motion t h a t Agave f i l e d w i t h the 

23 Commission also requests t h a t the Commission reduce 

24 e i t h e r the l i f e s p a n of Agave's i n j e c t i o n a u t h o r i t y or the 

25 t o t a l volume of a c i d gas t h a t Agave would i n j e c t over 30 
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years. I s Agave s t i l l r equesting t h a t r e l i e f ? 

2 A. No, we're not. 

3 Q. Is Agave now withdrawing t h a t request? 

4 A. We are. 

5 Q. And w i l l Mr. Gutierrez address t h a t during h i s 

6 testimony ? 

7 A. He w i l l . 

8 Q. And do you also r e c a l l t e s t i f y i n g at the June 

9 28th hearing t h a t Agave had begun the necessary steps t o 

10 re-enter and r e - p l u g the Government L Com Number 2 and 

11 Number 1 w e l l s and the Sims Number 1 w e l l , as required by 

12 Order Number R-13507? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. What actions has Agave taken? 

15 A. We had received approval f o r re-plugging of 

16 the w e l l s We also negotiated the surface use agreements 

17 f o r each w e l l l o c a t i o n and also have prepped the s i t e f o r 

18 the upcoming work. 

19 Q. And at the time of the hearing, had Agave 

20 rigged up on the Government Number 2 w e l l s i t e ? 

21 A. We had. 

22 Q. And was Geolex overseeing the r e - e n t r y 

23 e f f o r t s ? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q- Did Geolex perform t h a t work under your 
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1 d i r e c t i o n ? 

2 A. They d i d . 

3 Q. And I know Mr. Gutierrez i s going t o get i n t o 

4 t h i s i n more d e t a i l , but could you t e l l the Commissioners 

5 how the r e - e n t r y e f f o r t s went? 

6 A. We were unsuccessful on r e - e n t e r i n g the 

7 Government Number 2 w e l l . 

8 Q. And how much has Agave spent t o date on the 

9 r e - e n t r y of the Government L Com Number 2? 

10 A. To date, we've spent about $500,000 on the 

11 Government Number 2. 

12 Q. Did Agave move forward on the r e - e n t r y of the 

13 Sims Number 1 well? 

14 A. We d i d . 

15 Q. Has Agave completed the r e - e n t r y and 

16 re-plugging of t h a t well? 

17 A. We have. 

18 Q. Was t h a t performed i n the manner s p e c i f i e d by 

19 Order R-13507? 

20 A. I t was. 

21 Q. Has the OCD D i s t r i c t O f f i c e approved the 

22 subsequent C-103 d e s c r i b i n g the re-plugging? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. What was the t o t a l cost o f the r e - e n t r y and 

25 r e - p l u g g i n g o f the Sims Number 1? 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
b8fe1 ff3-01 eb-4e48-b170-fd3e91 fabf2c 



1 A. 
Page 16 

I t was approximately $630,000. 

2 Q. And while Geolex was performing the r e - e n t r y 

3 work on behalf of Agave, d i d you r e - v i s i t your o r i g i n a l 

4 p r o j e c t i o n s of the amount and composition of the i n l e t 

5 gas t o be processed at the Red H i l l s Gas Processing 

6 Plant? 

7 A. We d i d . 

8 Q. And were those p r o j e c t i o n s based on new data? 

9 A. They were. 

10 Q. And what was the data based on? 

11 A. The data was based on i n f o r m a t i o n from our 

12 parent company on production curves f o r the producing 

13 zones around the Red H i l l s area, and also some new 

14 updated gas analyses f o r w e l l s t h a t we had t i e d i n t o our 

15 system. 

16 Q. This data became a v a i l a b l e when? 

17 A. Approximately the June time frame. 

18 Q. June of t h i s year? 

19 A. Yes. June 2012. 

20 Q. Could you move forward t o Slid e Number 4, 

21 please? 

22 A. (Witness complies.) 

23 Q. And could you i d e n t i f y f o r the Commissioners 

24 the i n f o r m a t i o n i n the t a b l e on S l i d e Number 4? 

25 A. Yes. The t a b l e on S l i d e Number 4 i s a Promax 
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s i m u l a t i o n of our updated c a l c u l a t i o n of the TAG 

2 composition. As you see, t o the l e f t , t h a t i s the --

3 each component breakdown. And across the top, y o u ' l l 

4 see, "TAG 1/13." That i s our p r o j e c t e d composition 

5 s t a r t i n g i n January 2013. And then we move on t o J u l y 

6 2013, and then f i n a l l y , when we ramp up our production t o 

7 120 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t a day. 

8 Q. And does the composition and the process 

9 streams d i f f e r from Agave's i n i t i a l p r o j e c t i o n s ? 

10 A. I t does. 

11 Q. What were your i n i t i a l p r o j e c t i o n s ? 

12 A. I n i t i a l p r o j e c t i o n s were about 95 percent C02 

13 and 5 percent H2S. 

14 Q. Could you move forward t o S l i d e Number 5? 

15 A. (Witness complies.) 

16 Q. Again, would you i d e n t i f y f o r the 

17 Commissioners the data i n t h i s table? 

18 A. The t a b l e i n Sl i d e Number 5 i s a year-by-year 

19 forecast of our i n l e t volume coming i n t o Red H i l l s , along 

20 w i t h the corresponding TAG production. And t h a t ' s based 

21 over a 3 0-year p e r i o d . And t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n i s generated 

22 from our production curves from our parent company. 

23 Q. What d i d you compute as the average i n j e c t i o n 

24 r a t e over 3 0 years? 

25 A. Average i n j e c t i o n r a t e was approximately 6.7 

; 
^ ^ M ^ ^ ^ 1 
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1 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t a day. 

2 Q. Does t h a t also d i f f e r from your o r i g i n a l --

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. What was the o r i g i n a l p r o j e c t i o n ? 

5 A. A l i t t l e over 8 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t a day. 

6 Q. Did you provide t h i s data t o Geolex? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. And d i d Geolex perform modeling based i n p a r t 

9 on t h i s new data t h a t you provided? 

10 A. They d i d . 

11 Q. And i s the reduced radius of the i n j e c t i o n 

12 plume the basis f o r Agave's withdrawal of i t s request and 

13 i t s amended motion t h a t the Commission reduce e i t h e r the 

14 l i f e s p a n of the i n j e c t i o n a u t h o r i t y or the t o t a l value of 

15 TAG t o be inj e c t e d ? 

16 A. Yes, i t i s . 

17 MR. LARSON: Madam Chair, t h a t ' s a l l I 

18 have on d i r e c t . 

19 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Do you have any 

20 questions of t h i s witness? 

21 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have one question. 

22 EXAMINATION 

23 BY COMMISSIONER DAWSON: 

24 Q. When you d i d the -- going back t o the previous 

25 s l i d e on the c a l c u l a t i o n of the TAG composition, was 
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1 t h a t -- where d i d you t e s t t h a t gas stream? Was t h a t on 

2 the l i n e coming i n t o the p l a n t , or i s t h a t from the 

3 wellhead? 

4 A. That's at each i n d i v i d u a l wellhead. And we 

5 j u s t took a composition and threw t h a t i n t o the Promax 

6 model, and t h a t ' s how we generated our TAG concentration. 

7 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: That's the only 

8 question I had. Thank you. 

9 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Commissioner Balch? 

10 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I have a few 

11 questions, Mr. V i l l a . 

12 Good morning. 

13 THE WITNESS: Good morning. 

14 EXAMINATION 

15 BY COMMISSIONER BALCH: 

16 Q. L Com 2, you haven't been able t o plug, 

17 $500,000. Sims 1, you d i d plug, about 630. And the 

18 other two are the Government L Com 1 and the Government L 

19 Com 2. Would you expect them t o come i n at the same 

20 p r i c e range, around a h a l f m i l l i o n d o l l a r s ? 

21 A. I t h i n k -- yes, s i r , I would. A c t u a l l y , 

22 500,000 i s only the cost t o date, since we b a s i c a l l y 

23 h a l t e d work on the Government Number 2. I would suspect 

24 plugging of the other w e l l s would probably come i n at 

25 about the same amount as the Sims Number 1. And I'm sure 
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A l b e r t o could probably elaborate on t h a t during h i s 

2 testimony. 

3 Q. I'm going t o f o l l o w up on the question t h a t 

4 Mr. Dawson had on the TAG. 

5 Over 30 years of production, are you l i k e l y t o 

6 see a v a r i a t i o n i n those C02 and H2S r a t i o s ? 

7 A. There could be a v a r i a t i o n . 

8 Q. What s o r t of range might you expect, from j u s t 

9 knowledge of production? 

10 A. Not much. You know, the i n i t i a l H2S -- the 

11 i n i t i a l H2S t h a t we were seeing b a s i c a l l y came from the 

12 outer f r i n g e s of the Avalon Shale play. Those were 

13 analyses t h a t were p u l l e d from w e l l s f o r exploratory-type 

14 reasons. 

15 So those concentrations could change, but I 

16 wouldn't t h i n k they would change by much. 

17 Q. About what percentage of the t o t a l number of 

18 w e l l s t h a t are going t o e v e n t u a l l y come i n t o the p l a n t ' 

19 are i n place and producing? j 

20 A. What percentage of the number of wells? 

21 Q. I f there's going t o be a thousand t o complete 

22 the play, how many do you have now? Just a percentage. 

23 A. I'm guessing probably at 10 t o 15 percent. 

24 Q. So another 85 t o 90 percent of the w e l l s t h a t 

25 you haven't t e s t e d yet? 

• 
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1 A. Correct. But a l o t of these analyses t h a t 

2 we're seeing are spread out throughout the f i e l d s , and 

3 there's several producing zones t h a t we have some p r e t t y 

4 good i n f o r m a t i o n f o r . So we f e e l very confident w i t h the 

5 gas compositions. 

6 Q. I f you had t o put a variance on i t , what would 

7 be your estimate of a variance? 

8 A. For the composition? 

9 Q. Plus or minus H2S. 

10 A. I would probably guess we would probably be 

11 w i t h i n plus or minus h a l f a percent t o a percent H2S. 

12 Q. Could you r e f r e s h my memory on how deep the 

13 i n j e c t i o n w e l l is? 

14 A. The i n j e c t i o n w e l l i s roughly about 6,800 

15 f e e t , the a c t u a l i n j e c t i o n zone. 

16 Q. I'm going t o ask you j u s t a general 

17 engineering question because I'm curious. 

18 But i f you were t o d r i l l a monitoring w e l l 

19 only f o r the p o i n t of monitoring C02 at t h a t depth, how 

2 0 much would t h a t cost, about? 

21 A. That's probably a l i t t l e b i t outside of my 

22 realm. I'm hoping A l b e r t o could probably answer t h a t 

23 question b e t t e r than I could. 

24 COMMISSIONER BALCH: Thank you. That's 

25 a l l I have. 
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1 EXAMINATION 

2 BY CHAIRMAN BAILEY: 

3 Q. Since t h i s case i s predicated on a change 

4 of -- or a c a l c u l a t i o n of the composition at 99.8 percent 

5 C02 and 0.2 percent H2S and an i n j e c t i o n r a t e of 6.74 

6 mcfd, would you ob j e c t t o having those l i m i t a t i o n s as 

7 p a r t of the order, since t h a t was the basis f o r your case 

8 before the Commission? 

9 A. No. No, I don't t h i n k we'd object t o t h a t . 

10 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Okay. Any other 

11 questions? 

12 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: No f u r t h e r 

13 questions. 

14 MR. LARSON: I have a couple of 

15 follow-ups. 

16 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Yes. 

17 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

18 BY MR. LARSON: 

19 Q. Mr. V i l l a , has Agave submitted an a l t e r n a t i v e 

20 plugging plan f o r the Government L Com Number 2? 

21 A. We have. 

22 Q. But you haven't c a r r i e d forward w i t h t h a t 

23 a c t i o n yet? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. Tha t ' s pending the Commission's r u l i n g on t h i s 
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1 motion? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. Following up on Commissioner Balch's question, 

4 you have a small percentage of re p r e s e n t a t i v e w e l l s i n 

5 t h a t Avalon Shale play. I s i t your b e l i e f t h a t those 

6 w e l l s are r e p r e s e n t a t i v e of w e l l s t h a t w i l l come on l i n e 

7 throughout t h a t play? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 MR. LARSON: That's a l l I have. 

10 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Then your witness may be 

11 excused. 

12 MR. LARSON: Thank you. 

13 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: S h a l l we take a 

14 five-minute break? 

15 MR. LARSON: Sure. 

16 (A recess was taken.) 

17 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: S h a l l we go back on the 

18 record? 

19 MR. LARSON: Yes. With your indulgence, 

20 I ' d l i k e t o r e c a l l Mr. V i l l a t o answer a couple of 

21 questions. 

22 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l r i g h t . 

23 You're s t i l l under oath, Mr. V i l l a . 

24 THE WITNESS: Okay. 

25 
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FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

2 BY MR. LARSON: 

3 Q. Mr. V i l l a , Chairman B a i l e y asked you a 

4 question about p u t t i n g a l i m i t a t i o n on your average d a i l y 

5 r a t e of TAG i n j e c t i o n . And what i s the maximum d a i l y 

6 i n j e c t i o n r a t e c u r r e n t l y i n place i n the o r i g i n a l order? 

7 A. Th i r t e e n m i l l i o n cubic f e e t a day. 

8 Q. Would you l i k e t o maintain t h a t 13 m i l l i o n per 

9 day maximum? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. What i s your reasoning behind keeping that? 

12 A. One of the major reasons i s during periods of 

13 p l a n t upsets or f i e l d s h u t - i n s , there could be times 

14 where we may need t h a t e x t r a capacity f o r TAG production. 

15 So mainly dur i n g periods of upsets, we would l i k e t h a t 

16 f l e x i b i l i t y . 

17 Q. And those periods of upset, would t h a t change 

18 your c a l c u l a t i o n of the average i n j e c t i o n r a t e over time? 

19 A. Can you repeat that? 

20 Q. I f you had those upset days, would t h a t have 

21 any impact on your c a l c u l a t i o n of the average i n j e c t i o n 

22 rate? 

23 A. No. 

24 Q. But again, you would l i k e t o maintain t h a t 13 

25 m i l l i o n maximum d a i l y i n j e c t i o n rate? 
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That 1s c o r r e c t . 

2 MR. LARSON: That's a l l I have, Madam 

3 Chair. 

4 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Any questions? 

5 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: No questions. 

6 COMMISSIONER BALCH: No questions. 

7 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: You may be excused. 

8 Would you l i k e t o c a l l your next witness? 

9 MR. LARSON: I would. A l b e r t o G u t i e r r e z . 

10 ALBERTO GUTIERREZ 

11 Having been f i r s t duly sworn, t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

12 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

13 BY MR. LARSON: 

14 Q. Please s t a t e your f u l l name f o r the record. 

15 A. My name i s A l b e r t o R. Gutierrez. 

16 Q. What i s the name of your company? 

17 A. Geolex, Inc. 

18 Q. What i s your t i t l e w i t h Geolex? 

19 A. I'm the president of the company. 

20 Q. Did you also t e s t i f y before the Commission i n 

21 the two previous hearings i n t h i s matter? 

22 A. Yes, I d i d . 

23 Q. Did the Commission q u a l i f y you as an expert i n 

24 petroleum and geology and hydrogeology i n each of those 

25 hearings? 
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Yes 

2 MR. LARSON: Madam Chair, I would request 

3 t h a t Mr. Gutierrez again be q u a l i f i e d as an expert 

4 petroleum g e o l o g i s t and hydrogeologist f o r purposes of 

5 today's hearing. 

6 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Yes, he i s . 

7 MR. LARSON: Thank you. 

8 Q. (By Mr. Larson) What are the key elements of 

9 Agave's request f o r r e l i e f , now t h a t i t has withdrawn i t s 

10 request f o r r e d u c t i o n i n e i t h e r the l i f e s p a n of i t s 

11 i n j e c t i o n a u t h o r i t y f o r the t o t a l volume of TAG t o be 

12 i n j e c t e d over 30 years? 

13 A. I wanted t o go over a l i t t l e b i t of an o u t l i n e 

14 of what we're going t o go over, and then I ' l l go over 

15 those key f a c t o r s . 

16 Q. Sure. 

17 A. Mr. V i l l a has already t e s t i f i e d t o the data 

18 t h a t were provided t o us on the change i n the p r o j e c t e d 

19 TAG composition and volume, and you've heard t h a t 

20 already. I ' l l touch on t h a t a l i t t l e b i t , but not very 

21 much. 

22 Most of my pr e s e n t a t i o n w i l l r e l a t e t o what 

23 d i d we f i n d out about the r e s e r v o i r when we were doing 

24 the plugging of the Sims Number 1, and how d i d t h a t 

25 a f f e c t -- and what were the r e s u l t s of t h a t analysis on 
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1 the p r o j e c t e d plume dimension over 3 0 years? 

2 And then I w i l l go i n t o a f a i r amount of 

3 d e t a i l as t o what we encountered when we attempted t o 

4 plug the Government Number 2, and when we s u c c e s s f u l l y 

5 plugged the Sims Number 1, and what we would expect i n 

6 the context of the Government Number 1. 
7 And then I w i l l give you a revised estimate of 

8 the plume geometry and i t s maximum extent, based on the 

9 TAG volumes and the r e s e r v o i r c o n d i t i o n s and the 

10 a d d i t i o n a l new data t h a t we have on the r e s e r v o i r . 

11 And I want t o emphasize too t h a t we 

12 coordinated t h i s whole process. I t was r e a l l y an 

13 e x c e l l e n t example of working j o i n t l y w i t h the agency. We 

14 coordinated w i t h D i s t r i c t 1 and w i t h Santa Fe p r e t t y much 

15 on a d a i l y basis, and i n some cases, more than once a 

16 day, wh i l e we were going through the whole plugging 

17 process, t o keep the d i s t r i c t and W i l l Jones, i n Santa 

18 Fe, apprised of what we were encountering. 

19 And i t was a two-way s t r e e t . I mean the 

20 d i s t r i c t had t h e i r s t a f f out there numerous times, and we 

21 would discuss and t r y t o work out what was going t o be 

22 the best way t o accomplish the o b j e c t i v e s t h a t were set 

23 f o r t h i n the order. 

24 And i n f a c t , i t was o r i g i n a l l y the d i s t r i c t 

25 t h a t s a i d t o us, when we were s t r u g g l i n g w i t h the 
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1 Government Number 2, "You may as w e l l give i t up. You're 

2 never going t o get the r e . " So I ' l l t a l k a l i t t l e b i t 

3 about t h a t . 

4 But I r e a l l y am proud of the way we were able 

5 t o work and have been able t o continue t o work w i t h the 

6 d i s t r i c t and w i t h the s t a f f i n Santa Fe, which have been 

7 very h e l p f u l throughout the whole process. And then I ' l l 

8 j u s t go through a summary of what our request i s from the 

9 Commission today. 

10 The key elements of our request are as 

11 f o l l o w s : B a s i c a l l y we know, as Mr. V i l l a t e s t i f i e d , t h a t 

12 the p r o j e c t e d concentrations of the TAG are r e s u l t i n g 

13 e s s e n t i a l l y about a 96 percent r e d u c t i o n i n H2S 

14 co n c e n t r a t i o n i n the o v e r a l l TAG stream. So we're 

15 b a s i c a l l y i n j e c t i n g 99.8 percent C02 and about .2 percent 

16 H2S. So there's a much lower percentage of H2S than what 

17 we o r i g i n a l l y a n t i c i p a t e d . 

18 Secondly, even i f you take i n t o account the 

19 u n c e r t a i n t i e s t h a t go i n t o the determination of t h a t , as 

20 Mr. V i l l a t e s t i f i e d , maybe you're t a l k i n g a h a l f t o 1 

21 percent d i f f e r e n c e i n t h a t H2S concentration, which 

22 would, at i t s worst, b r i n g us up t o about 1.2 percent 

23 H2S, which i s s t i l l about 75 or 80 percent lower than 

24 what was o r i g i n a l l y p r o j e c t e d . 

25 Now, f r a n k l y , t h a t change i n composition 
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1 doesn't have much of an e f f e c t on the o v e r a l l size of the 

2 plume because the o v e r a l l s i z e of the plume i s more 

3 a f f e c t e d by the o v e r a l l volume of TAG and the r e s e r v o i r 

4 c o n d i t i o n s . 

5 But when we went through the new modeling and 

6 p r o j e c t e d r a t e s , we found t h a t instead of an average over 

7 30 years of n e a r l y 7.8 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t a day, our 

8 average t u r n s out t o be more l i k e 6.75 or 6.74 m i l l i o n 

9 cubic f e e t a day. So t h a t had a r e a l e f f e c t on the 

10 o v e r a l l s i z e of the plume. 

11 I n a d d i t i o n , we went through extensive work t o 

12 t r y t o remediate and re-plug the Government Number 2. 

13 And I w i l l go through those steps and e x p l a i n t o you why 

14 we f e e l t h a t -- and so does the OCD -- f e e l t h a t i t i s 

15 not possi b l e t o achieve t h a t i n the Government Number 2 

16 or i n the Government Number 1, and why we don't f e e l t h a t 

17 those w e l l s , as they c u r r e n t l y e x i s t , pose any k i n d of a 

18 t h r e a t of escape from the i n j e c t i o n zone of ac i d gas. 

19 Then very i m p o r t a n t l y , and something t h a t we 

2 0 hadn't even thought o f , f r a n k l y , when we o r i g i n a l l y 

21 re-entered the Sims w e l l , but the Sims w e l l i s the 

22 clo s e s t w e l l of a l l of the f o u r t h a t the Commission 

23 re q u i r e d us t o re-plug. The Sims w e l l i s the closest t o 

24 our proposed l o c a t i o n f o r the AGI. 

25 We were able t o go and s u c c e s s f u l l y plug t h a t 
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1 w e l l . That c o n f i g u r a t i o n i n t h a t w e l l was s i g n i f i c a n t l y 

2 d i f f e r e n t than what we encountered i n the Government 

3 Number 2. Here's the p o i n t : We never thought of t h i s i n 

4 advance. I guess we probably should have. 

5 But once we got down t o the Cherry Canyon i n 

6 the Sims Number 1 w e l l , we thought, "Wait a second. 

7 We're i n the i n j e c t i o n zone t h a t we plan t o be i n . Why 

8 don't we do some i n j e c t i o n t e s t s and get some more r e a l 

9 data on the r e s e r v o i r t h a t we d i d n ' t have when we came t o 

10 the Commission f o r the o r i g i n a l a p p l i c a t i o n ? " 

11 So we d i d t h a t . And t h a t provided some 

12 a d d i t i o n a l very good data on the i n j e c t i v i t y of the 

13 r e s e r v o i r . And i t provided data t h a t f r a n k l y was p r e t t y 

14 convincing t o us and t o the D i v i s i o n t h a t the o r i g i n a l 

15 p r o j e c t i o n s f o r the size of the plume were way, way 

16 conservative, and t h a t there i s not much r i s k , i f any, of 

17 t h a t TAG coming out of t h a t i n j e c t i o n zone. 

18 And i f y o u ' l l note on the f o u r t h or f i f t h 

19 b u l l e t up there, the r e s u l t s of t h a t i n j e c t i o n t e s t are 

20 summarized. The bottom l i n e i s we d i d not a n t i c i p a t e 

21 t h a t the Cherry Canyon would be underpressured r e s e r v o i r . 

22 We thought i t would be normally pressured. But, i n f a c t , 

23 i t ' s underpressured. 

24 The w e l l went on vacuum at three b a r r e l s a 

25 minute and remained t h a t way throughout our i n j e c t i o n 
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1 t e s t s . And when we r a i s e d the r a t e t o three-and-a-half 

2 b a r r e l s a minute, we were only able t o generate about 4 00 

3 p s i of pressure. 

4 Now, j u s t t o give you a comparison, the 

5 average r a t e of i n j e c t i o n t h a t Agave i s a n t i c i p a t i n g , 

6 t h a t ' s o n l y the r a t e at which t h i s w e l l , the Sims w e l l , 

7 took f l u i d on vacuum, i s 14 8 percent of the r a t e at which 

8 Agave intends t o i n j e c t . 

9 So, i n f a c t , we b e l i e v e t h a t our i n j e c t i o n 

10 pressures are going t o be very low, and, i n f a c t , t h a t 

11 the r e s e r v o i r has much gre a t e r capacity and much greater 

12 p o r o s i t y than what was o r i g i n a l l y a n t i c i p a t e d . 

13 I n a d d i t i o n , we took a wider range of logs i n 

14 the Cherry Canyon t o re-look -- a f t e r we got these 

15 i n j e c t i o n t e s t s r e s u l t s , t o look at the i r r e d u c i b l e water 

16 s a t u r a t i o n . And what i t appears i s t h a t our o r i g i n a l 

17 estimates were about .5 t o .54 f o r i r r e d u c i b l e water. 

18 And when we took a wider look at Cherry Canyon, what we 

19 found i s t h a t those numbers were much more around .43 t o 

20 .45. And t h a t has a r e a l e f f e c t as w e l l i n the r e s e r v o i r 

21 model and the p r e d i c t i o n of the extent of the plume. 

22 So b a s i c a l l y the distance from the edge of the 

23 rev i s e d plume c a l c u l a t i o n s i n d i c a t e t h a t both the 

24 Government Number 2 and the Government Number 1 are w e l l 

25 pr o t e c t e d from TAG i n the r e s e r v o i r . And so those are 
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1 the key elements, and we're going t o discuss those i n 

2 d e t a i l as we go along. 

3 Q. Just so the record i s c l e a r , Mr. Gutierrez, 

4 what are the parameters of the i n j e c t i o n zone i n the 

5 Cherry Canyon, the depths? 

6 A. The i n j e c t i o n zone i n the Cherry Canyon i s 

7 from approximately 6,200 t o 6,500 or 6,600. We don't 

8 know e x a c t l y what would be the best zones when we 

9 encounter them. But t h a t ' s what we a n t i c i p a t e . 

10 Q. I d i r e c t your a t t e n t i o n t o the second b u l l e t 

11 p o i n t from the bottom of the page there on Slide 6. 

12 That's a p r e t t y strong statement, "The underpressured 

13 c o n d i t i o n of the r e s e r v o i r v i r t u a l l y guarantees t h a t 

14 f l u i d w i l l not leave the r e s e r v o i r . " 

15 What's your basis f o r t h a t statement? 

16 A. I t ' s very simple. We have a pressure gradient 

17 t h a t tends t o take f l u i d i n t o t h a t r e s e r v o i r , r a t h e r than 

18 t o allow f l u i d t o escape from t h a t r e s e r v o i r . 

19 So i n f a c t , these i n j e c t i o n t e s t s were very 

2 0 key i n both my r e e v a l u a t i o n of t h a t r e s e r v o i r and i n 

21 E.L.'s and W i l l ' s analyses of the r e s e r v o i r . So we both 

22 f e e l very comfortable w i t h t h a t c o n d i t i o n i n the 

23 r e s e r v o i r . 
24 Q. And during Mr. V i l l a ' s testimony, I assume you 

25 heard a question about a p o t e n t i a l monitor well? 
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1 A. I d i d . 

2 Q. What would your o p i n i o n be about the v a l i d i t y 

3 of r e q u i r i n g a monitoring well? 

4 A. Monitor w e l l s i n a c i d gas i n j e c t i o n I t h i n k 

5 are not a good idea i n the context of p e n e t r a t i n g the 

6 r e s e r v o i r . Because I t h i n k t h a t i t i s f a r b e t t e r t o 

7 perhaps have a look at producing w e l l s i n the nearby area 

8 t h a t penetrate t h a t zone and look at what kinds of 

9 changes there might be i n the chemistry as a way of maybe 

10 being an e a r l y s e n t i n e l of a problem. 

11 But one of the th i n g s t h a t you want t o avoid 

12 i s t o avoid penetrations of t h a t r e s e r v o i r as much as 

13 po s s i b l e , because you r e a l l y want the s t u f f t o stay i n 

14 there. While t h i s i s an underpressured r e s e r v o i r and 

15 t h a t would not be as much of a concern, i t ' s a very 

16 expensive p r o p o s i t i o n , and I don't t h i n k i t w i l l r e a l l y 

17 help us assure sa f e t y . 

18 Q. And could you b a l l p a r k the cost of a monitor 

19 well? 

2 0 A. Yeah. I t h i n k i f you were going t o d r i l l a 

21 monitor w e l l t h a t was going t o be w i t h i n the plume and 

22 you have t o p r o t e c t t h a t w e l l i n the same way t h a t you 

23 would p r o t e c t an i n j e c t i o n w e l l out there at t h a t 

24 l o c a t i o n , I ' d say you're l o o k i n g a t 2 t o $3 m i l l i o n . 

25 Q. And would i t make sense t o you t o do a monitor 
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1 w e l l outside the p r o j e c t e d radius of the plume? 

2 A. I don't t h i n k so. I t h i n k i t would be b e t t e r 

3 j u s t t o look at other production i n the area and monitor 

4 t h a t . 

5 Q. And could you move on t o Sl i d e Number 7? 

6 A. (Witness complies.) 

7 Q. What i s the distance from the surface l o c a t i o n 

8 of the Red H i l l s AGI t o the Government L Com Number 2? 

9 A. I t ' s about .4 miles. 

10 Q. And the same f o r the Government L Com Number 

11 1? 

12 A. I t ' s about .72 or .73 miles. 

13 Q. And what i s the distance of the Smith Federal? 

14 A. About .72, .73, something l i k e t h a t . 

15 Q. So the distances of the Government L Com 

16 Number 1 and Smith Federal Number 1 are very s i m i l a r ? 

17 A. They are. 

18 Q. Can you move t o the next s l i d e ? 

19 A. I want t o p o i n t out the Sims -- you d i d n ' t 

20 mention the Sims w e l l . 

21 I f you look on the map -- t h i s i s j u s t t o 

22 r e f r e s h the Commission's memory about the l o c a t i o n of 

23 these f o u r w e l l s -- y o u ' l l see the Government Number 2 

24 and Government Number 1 there t o the east of the proposed 

25 Agave w e l l , the Smith Federal t o the southeast. And the 
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1 Sims you can see i s p r e t t y much d i r e c t l y n o r t h and i s 

2 approximately .25 miles away from the proposed Red H i l l s 

3 w e l l . 

4 Q. Anything else on t h i s s l i d e ? 

5 A. No. That's i t . 

6 Q. And what was Geolex's o r i g i n a l plan f o r 

7 r e - e n t e r i n g the Government L Com Number 2? 

8 A. The Government L Com Number 2 i s an abandoned 

9 dry hole of which the casing -- i t was a deep t e s t . I t 

10 went way below the i n j e c t i o n zone. But then i t was 

11 plugged back and abandoned. 

12 And the 10-and-three-quarter-inch intermediate 

13 casing was removed from a depth of about 800 f e e t t o a 

14 depth of 2,700 f e e t , approximately. I'm sorry, t o a 

15 depth of about 2,370 f e e t , approximately. 

16 So the o r i g i n a l concept and the approved 

17 re-plugging plan was t h a t we would re-enter the w e l l . We 

18 would d r i l l out through the base of the surface casing at 

19 about 800 f e e t , and we would re-enter the open hole, 

2 0 which we d i d . Then the idea was we were going t o get 

21 back i n t o the 10-and-three-quarter-inch casing at about 

22 2,370 f e e t and then go on down t o the Cherry Canyon and 

23 set a balance plug because, again, we have some open hole 

24 down there t h a t i s f i l l e d w i t h heavy mud. That was the 

25 o r i g i n a l plan. 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
b8fe 1 ff3-01 eb-4e48-b170-fd3e91 fabf2c 



Page 36 

1 We attempted t o do t h a t . We had very, very 

2 d i f f i c u l t d r i l l i n g i n the upper w e l l due t o the f a c t 

3 there was a l o t of metal d e b r i s and what I c a l l junk t h a t 

4 had been dropped i n t h a t w e l l and t h a t we had t o d r i l l 

5 through. So we spent b a s i c a l l y almost 18 days j u s t 

6 t r y i n g t o get through from the surface t o the top of t h a t 

7 10-and-three-quarter-inch c u t o f f casing. 

8 I n j u s t d r i l l i n g out the open hole, we had t o 

9 m i l l a l o t of s t e e l t h a t was i n the w e l l , a l o t of j u s t 

10 junk t h a t had been dropped i n t h a t upper p o r t i o n of the 

11 hole. And what would happen i s there were a number of 

12 plugs t h a t we d r i l l e d through as we were going down. But 

13 what would happen i s you'd s t a r t m i l l i n g on some junk, 

14 and then i t would k i n d of push through p o r t i o n s of the 

15 open hole t h a t had collapsed, and then you'd have t o m i l l 

16 on i t again. I t was q u i t e a tedious process. The bottom 

17 l i n e i s we had those d i f f i c u l t i e s t o about 1,800 fe e t or 

18 so. 

19 Then we had a l i t t l e b i t eas ie r d r i l l i n g u n t i l 

2 0 we got down t o the top o f the cas ing . And we went 

21 down - - w e were d r i l l i n g w i t h a 12-and-a -quar te r - inch 

22 b i t , so t h a t when we would encounter the top o f the 

23 10 -and - th ree -qua r t e r - i nch cas ing , we would b a s i c a l l y 

24 a r r i v e a t the top o f t h a t cas ing and then be able t o p u l l 

25 out and come back i n w i t h l i k e a 
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1 n i n e - a n d - f i v e - e i g h t h s - i n c h b i t and then re-enter t h a t 

2 casing. 

3 A f t e r about three or fou r days of attempting 

4 t o re- e n t e r t h a t casing, we thought we had re-entered i t . 

5 And we kept on going down and k i n d of pushing and 

6 d r i l l i n g down t o a depth of approximately 2,560 f e e t . 

7 So I thought, "Okay, now we're home f r e e , " 

8 even though we had expended a s i g n i f i c a n t amount more of 

9 money than we a n t i c i p a t e d t o get there. But then we 

10 encountered some resi s t a n c e at t h a t 2,500-foot depth. 

11 So I consulted w i t h E.L. We t a l k e d about i t . 

12 And I said t o him, "You know what I'm going t o do? I'm 

13 going t o p u l l out because I t h i n k I'm not i n the casing. 

14 I t h i n k I'm alongside of i t . " So I said, "I'm going t o 

15 p u l l out and put a c o r i n g b i t back on. I'm going t o go 

16 back i n , and I'm going t o go t o the depth where I'm 

17 h i t t i n g r esistance and t r y and get a sample and see 

18 whether I'm i n or out." 

19 When we d i d t h a t , we found indeed t h a t we were 

2 0 outside the casing. We cored a piece of rock from where 

21 we had encountered the re s i s t a n c e , and the core t h a t came 

22 out had the crescent shape of where the o r i g i n a l hole was 

23 as h a l f of the core. So we knew we were outside of t h i s 

24 casing. 

25 So we p u l l e d back up and we attempted again t o 
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1 re-enter i t , and we j u s t couldn't do i t . So we thought 

2 now we want t o take a look at what the top of t h a t casing 

3 looks l i k e so we can maybe t r y and f i g u r e out how t o get 

4 i n t o i t . So we put what's c a l l e d an impression block, 

5 which i s e s s e n t i a l l y a block of lead, t h i s one being 

6 about the same diameter as our b i t , 

7 12-and-a-quarter-inch. 

8 And we went down w i t h t h a t impression block. 

9 And you push a l i t t l e b i t on the top of the casing, so 

10 then you p u l l i t up. And you b a s i c a l l y have a negative 

11 image of what i s lo o k i n g up at you i n the hole. When we 

12 d i d t h a t , we got b a s i c a l l y a completely inconclusive 

13 r e s u l t . When we p u l l e d i t back out, what i t looked l i k e 

14 i s t h a t t h i s casing i s a c t u a l l y collapsed at the top. 

15 So a f t e r we d i d t h a t , E.L., when I c a l l e d him 

16 and t o l d him and sent him photographs of the impression 

17 block, he said, "Just give i t up. You're never going t o 

18 get there. " And I agreed w i t h him. I said, " I t h i n k 

19 we've got a r e a l problem, and I don't t h i n k we're going 

20 t o be able t o re-enter i t . " 

21 And we also n o t i c e d t h a t -- because we 

22 obviously were down alongside the casing there at t h a t 

23 2,300-foot depth, t h a t what had happened i s at the top of 

24 t h a t casing, where i t had been cut o f f and p u l l e d out, 

2 5 there was a b i g washout. 
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1 So r e a l l y what happened i s t h a t t h a t casing 

2 not only was p a r t i a l l y collapsed, but i t had almost 150 

3 f e e t of e s s e n t i a l l y f r e e pipe s i t t i n g i n t h a t hole at 

4 t h a t depth. And we j u s t could not get -- i t ' s l i k e 

5 threading a needle. We j u s t could not thread the needle. 

6 We then, i n c o n s u l t a t i o n w i t h the d i s t r i c t , we 

7 said, "Why don't we j u s t squeeze and i n j e c t cement over 

8 t h a t e n t i r e washout, f i l l i t completely and b r i n g the 

9 cement up t o about 2,3 00 f e e t above there and then 

10 continue our plugging from above t h a t zone?" Which was 

11 what we proposed t o the D i v i s i o n . And i t ' s a plan t h a t 

12 we came up j o i n t l y w i t h the D i v i s i o n of how t o f i n i s h 

13 plugging t h a t w e l l without having the a b i l i t y t o go down 

14 there and set t h a t balance plug. 

15 That was submitted as a C-103 t o the d i s t r i c t . 

16 And they accepted i t f o r the record, but they couldn't 

17 approve i t because of the f a c t t h a t the order trumped 

18 t h a t and said t h a t we have t o place a balance plug. So 

19 t h a t ' s why we're here today on t h a t p a r t i c u l a r w e l l . 

20 That's, i n sho r t , the s t o r y of 25 days of my 

21 l i f e t h a t I don't want t o repeat. 

22 Q. During the process of your communication w i t h 

23 the d i s t r i c t o f f i c e , were you also communicating w i t h 

24 W i l l Jones? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. Did he concur w i t h E.L. Gonzales' conclusion? 

2 A. Yes, he d i d . 

3 Q. And when d i d you r i g up on the Government L 

4 Com Number 2? 

5 A. We were at t h i s hearing I t h i n k on the 28th, 

6 i f I r e c a l l c o r r e c t l y , of June. And we rigged up about a 

7 week before, about the 21st or 22nd. 

8 So I -- a c t u a l l y , t h i s was my s l i d e t h a t I --

9 I know t h i s by heart, so I guess I went ahead of myself. 

10 So t h i s i s a s l i d e t h a t lays out what I j u s t t o l d you i n 

11 a longer form. And so i f you look at the -- these s l i d e s 

12 a l l describe t h a t . 

13 Now, t h i s i s a g r a p h i c a l p i c t u r e of what we 

14 t h i n k t h a t s i t u a t i o n looks l i k e now. You can see t h a t 

15 t h i n g t h a t looks l i k e a mushroom. That's the washout 

16 zone t h a t i s immediately above where t h a t casing i s cut 

17 o f f . That i s now completely f i l l e d w i t h cement. We put 

18 310 sacks of cement i n there and f i l l e d the open hole up 

19 t o -- we completely covered the area alongside of t h a t 

2 0 casing and then up i n t o the open hole t o the 2,310-foot 

21 mark. 

22 And I know i t looks k i n d of funny, but I t r i e d 

23 t o do i t t o scale. The washout i s -- our estimated 

24 extent of t h a t washout, based on our t o o l s and then based 

2 5 on the cement volumes, was about 24 inches. So i t was 
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1 about twice the diameter of the open hole there. That's 

2 because they cut t h a t casing o f f b a s i c a l l y i n the s a l t , 

3 and t h a t tends t o cause a b i t of a washout. So t h a t ' s 

4 what we encountered i n t h a t w e l l . 

5 Q. This a l t e r n a t i v e plugging plan t h a t you 

6 submitted t o the d i s t r i c t and b a s i c a l l y i n abeyance, 

7 pending the Commission's r u l i n g on t h i s motion --

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. -- have you estimated the cost of completing 

10 t h a t a l t e r n a t i v e plugging plan? 

11 A. I t w i l l probably cost about another 160,000. 

12 And t h a t would be t o go back -- because a c t u a l l y , i n 

13 c o n s u l t a t i o n w i t h the d i s t r i c t , we decided -- and we d i d 

14 t h i s i n the Sims Number 1. 

15 We o r i g i n a l l y had an approved plan t h a t had us 

16 j u s t r e s e t t i n g the plugs t h a t were already e x i s t i n g i n 

17 the w e l l . But both the D i v i s i o n and we f e l t more 

18 comfortable, e s p e c i a l l y i n the upper p o r t i o n s of these 

19 holes where the s a l t was, not j u s t s e t t i n g plugs i n s i d e 

2 0 the wellbore, but a c t u a l l y p e r f o r a t i n g i t and squeezing 

21 on both sides and s e t t i n g the plug i n s i d e and out. 

22 So t h a t makes i t q u i t e a b i t more expensive 

23 because you have t o p e r f o r a t e and squeeze, as opposed t o 

24 j u s t s e t t i n g balanced plugs. 
25 So we proposed t h a t i n a l l of the plugs and 
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1 two a d d i t i o n a l ones than what were i n the w e l l before 

2 between t h a t 2,300 f o o t and the surface be set as p a r t of 

3 the r e v i s e d plugging plan. 

4 Q. With regard t o the Sims Number 1, you had 

5 b e t t e r luck r e - e n t e r i n g t h a t w e l l , d i d n ' t you? 

6 A. Well, we had b e t t e r luck i n t h a t we were able 

7 t o accomplish our o b j e c t i v e and, f r a n k l y , t h a t we were 

8 able t o gather a d d i t i o n a l r e s e r v o i r data. But i t was 

9 s i g n i f i c a n t l y more expensive than we a n t i c i p a t e d f o r 

10 s i m i l a r reasons. 

11 I n t h a t w e l l , we r e a l l y d i d n ' t have t h i s 

12 c u t o f f casing issue. We had a l i t t l e b i t of c u t o f f 

13 casing, but i t was very near the surface and i t was easy 

14 t o deal w i t h . But what we d i d have i s the same 

15 encountering of a l o t of junk t h a t had been put i n t o the 

16 top of t h a t hole, along w i t h the mud i n between the 

17 plugs. So we had t o spend a f a i r amount of time d r i l l i n g 

18 through t h a t . 

19 Q. Do you r e c a l l what Agave's i n i t i a l estimate of 

20 the r e - e n t r y and the re-plugging was f o r the Sims 

21 Number 1? 

22 A. Unfo r t u n a t e l y , I do. I t was approximately 

23 250-, $260,000. 

24 So we were t a l k i n g about the Sims Number 1 . I 

25 thought I ' d g ive you a qu ick rundown o f what we 
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1 encountered when we d i d t h a t . 

2 A f t e r we p u l l e d o f f the Government Number 2, 

3 we then moved t o the Sims Number 1 and s t a r t e d plugging 

4 i t . We worked on t h a t job about s i x or seven days a week 

5 u n t i l we completed i t on August 14th, 2012. 

6 We had a f a i r amount of d i f f i c u l t y , l i k e I 

7 described, because we had t o d r i l l through a l o t of t r a s h 

8 i n the upper p o r t i o n of the w e l l . And we had a couple of 

9 trapped gas pockets i n the upper p a r t of the w e l l , and we 

10 don't r e a l l y know how those got there. I t h i n k i t was 

11 j u s t d u r i n g the o r i g i n a l plugging. But i t was not coming 

12 from the depth, from depth, or from --we stopped 

13 encountering those before we even got t o the Cherry 

14 Canyon, so they were trapped up higher. 

15 A f t e r n e a r l y three weeks, we reached our 

16 t a r g e t depth and we c i r c u l a t e d e v e r y t h i n g out of the 

17 hole. And then we decided t h a t we would do t h i s 

18 i n j e c t i o n t e s t i n g . As I mentioned, the i n j e c t i o n t e s t s 

19 y i e l d e d a three-barrel-per-minute r a t e on vacuum and then 

20 a three-and-a-half-barrel-a-minute r a t e at only 400 p s i 

21 at the surface. So we f e l t very good about t h a t . 

22 We also, you know, have had an experience w i t h 

23 another AGI w e l l close t o Hobbs, and t h i s was a w e l l t h a t 

24 we worked on very c l o s e l y w i t h E.L., as w e l l , where a f t e r 

25 we had i n j e c t e d f o r two and a h a l f years i n t o a s i m i l a r 
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r e s e r v o i r t h a t had s i m i l a r c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s t o what we had 

te s t e d i n the Sims, we had the w e l l go on vacuum a f t e r 

two and a h a l f years of i n j e c t i o n at p r e t t y s i g n i f i c a n t | 

about a four-and-a-half m i l l i o n - a - d a y r a t e . So we f e e l j 

very comfortable about the Cherry Canyon, much more | 

comfortable even than we d i d when we f e l t i t was a good 

r e s e r v o i r t o begin w i t h . 

So we then -- t h i s next s l i d e shows you the j 

f i n a l approved C-103 f o r the remediation of the Sims. 

And we d i d go -- we d i d set a plug across the e n t i r e 

i n j e c t i o n zone, as w e l l as inside-and-out plugs a l l the I 

way back up t h a t w e l l a f t e r we t e s t e d the Cherry Canyon. j 

Q. And t h a t C-103 has been approved by the 

D i s t r i c t ? | 

A. Yes, i t has. That's a copy of i t there. J 

Q. You mentioned a change from your o r i g i n a l \ 

assessment of the r e s e r v o i r capacity based on the \ 

i n j e c t i o n t e s t i n g . What d i d you base your o r i g i n a l \ 

assessment on? 

A. We based i t on a l l of the logs t h a t we had f o r I 

the w e l l s i n the immediate v i c i n i t y . And there were 

r e a l l y no d r i l l stem t e s t s i n the Cherry Canyon, so we 

had based i t b a s i c a l l y on j u s t the l o g data from the logs 

of w e l l s t h a t were a v a i l a b l e . And some of the w e l l s were 

newer, some were ol d e r . We had p r e t t y good l o g data, but j 

j 
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1 we r e a l l y d i d n ' t have good data on the pressure 

2 c o n d i t i o n s i n the r e s e r v o i r . 

3 Q. I s t h a t your normal procedure when you are 

4 tasked t o evaluate a p o t e n t i a l r e s e r v o i r ? 

5 A. Right. We t r y t o get a l l of the data we can. 

6 I n some cases -- the reason why there's not much data on 

7 t h a t r e s e r v o i r there i s because i t ' s been -- e a r l y on 

8 they t e s t e d i t a few times, and i t came back s t r a i g h t 

9 wet. So there hasn't been -- people don't pay much 

10 a t t e n t i o n t o i t when they look i n t h a t area because i t ' s 

11 j u s t nonproductive. 

12 Q. A f t e r Geolex terminated the r e - e n t r y work on 

13 the Government L Com Number 2, d i d you have f u r t h e r 

14 discussions w i t h the OCD regarding the course of a c t i o n 

15 Geolex should take going forward? 

16 A. We d i d . A f t e r the Sims Number 1, we went back 

17 t o the -- f i r s t of a l l , we -- c l e a r l y the D i v i s i o n was 

18 very w e l l aware of what happened, because they were there 

19 when we were doing the i n j e c t i o n t e s t i n g , and they were 

20 i n and out of the s i t e the whole time we were doing the 

21 re-plugging. Like I said, I was communicating on a d a i l y 

22 basis w i t h E.L. and w i t h Mark down i n D i s t r i c t 1. 

23 So when we encountered those r e s u l t s , I said, 

24 " I t h i n k we're going t o go back and re-look at t h i s 

25 r e s e r v o i r w i t h t h i s new data." And the D i v i s i o n 
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1 encouraged us t o do t h a t . 

2 Because when we f i r s t encountered the 

3 i n a b i l i t y t o plug the Government Number 2 and we 

4 discussed i t w i t h the D i v i s i o n , there was s t i l l some 

5 concern on the D i v i s i o n ' s p a r t t h a t , you know, the 

6 Government Number 2 was p r e t t y close t o the edge of the 

7 3 0-year plume. And consequently, while they agreed t h a t 

8 i t was not possible t o re-enter and re-plug t h a t w e l l , 

9 there was s t i l l some l i n g e r i n g concern about t h a t . So 

10 t h a t ' s what generated our o r i g i n a l motion t o consider a 

11 r e d u c t i o n of the i n j e c t i o n r a t e . 

12 Q. Excuse me. At t h a t time, everybody was s t i l l 

13 o p erating under the assumption t h a t the radius a f t e r 3 0 

14 years i s .39? 

15 A. Yes, s i r . And t h a t the w e l l was out at a 

16 distance of about .4, so i t was r i g h t at the edge of the 

17 3 0-year plume. Even though I w i l l emphasize t h a t as we 

18 discussed i n the o r i g i n a l hearing, we f e l t p r e t t y 

19 comfortable and s t i l l f e e l very comfortable, and more so 

20 now because of the co n d i t i o n s of the r e s e r v o i r . 

21 But we f e l t very comfortable t h a t the plugging 

22 c o n d i t i o n s of the w e l l , as they e x i s t e d and where the 

23 casing i s and the heavy mud plug across there, t h a t we 

24 don't have a p o t e n t i a l problem i n the w e l l anyway. 

25 But there was s t i l l some concern t h a t i t was 
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1 close t o the edge of the plume. So t h a t ' s why we said, 

2 "What i f we consider e i t h e r reducing the l i f e t i m e of the 

3 i n j e c t i o n or reducing the rate?" 

4 And t h a t was before -- I mean we were s t i l l 

5 j u s t i n the process of plugging the Sims Number 1, and 

6 t h a t was before we got t o the Cherry Canyon i n the Sims 

7 Number 1. 

8 Then when we got these i n j e c t i o n t e s t r e s u l t s , 

9 t h a t k i n d of changed the whole p i c t u r e , because we had 

10 new data t h a t was r e l i a b l e , t h a t was r i g h t i n the area 

11 t e s t i n g the r e s e r v o i r . When I showed t h a t data t o E.L. 

12 and W i l l , they said, "You ought t o re-look at what the 

13 extent of the plume i s w i t h t h i s new data, and there may 

14 not be a need t o do anything other than t o not be 

15 r e q u i r e d t o plug those w e l l s . " 

16 Q. And then at t h a t p o i n t , you d i d your new 

17 modeling? 

18 A. Yes, s i r . At t h a t p o i n t , we d i d . 

19 Q. Did the subject of a monitor w e l l ever come up 

20 i n your discussions w i t h Mr. Gonzales or Mr. Jones? 

21 A. No. We d i d discuss the p o t e n t i a l merit of 

22 p u t t i n g some k i n d of p o r t , i f you w i l l , i n the Government 

23 Number 2 t h a t would -- and t h i s was before, a c t u a l l y , we 

24 had the data from the Sims. But we discussed the concept 

25 of p o s s i b l y p u t t i n g a p o r t t h a t would extend t o t h a t 
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1 depth of about 2,300 f e e t and t o p e r i o d i c a l l y monitor 

2 t h a t . 

3 But a f t e r l o o k i n g at t h a t w e l l i n d e t a i l , and 

4 a f t e r the D i v i s i o n looked at i t , we both agreed t h a t i t 

5 probably was a useless e f f o r t because we don't believe 

6 there's any chance t h a t t h a t could get up t h a t high, t h a t 

7 the gas would ever leave the i n j e c t i o n zone at a l l , much 

8 less get t h a t high. 

9 So we probably thought i t was b e t t e r t o do a 

10 good plugging j o b on t h a t , r a t h e r than t o t r y and do 

11 t h a t . So we d i d n ' t discuss a monitor w e l l , but we d i d 

12 discuss t h a t . 

13 Q. But t h a t went by the wayside a f t e r the 

14 modeling was done; i s t h a t correct? 

15 A. I t a c t u a l l y went by the wayside before t h a t . 

16 But yes, d e f i n i t e l y a f t e r the new modeling was done. 

17 Q. I t went by the wayside when the D i v i s i o n 

18 r e p r e s e n t a t i v e saw the i n j e c t i o n t e s t data? Would t h a t 

19 be more accurate? 

2 0 A. I ' d say i t went by the wayside even before 

21 t h a t , because we looked at the l i k e l i h o o d of success. I t 

22 was j u s t k i n d of a thought t h a t we had, and we bounced i t 

23 around f o r a w h i l e . But i t was a l l happening about the 

24 same time, so I don't r e a l l y r e c a l l e x a c t l y . But yeah, 

25 i t was a l l about the same time. 
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1 Q. And once the D i v i s i o n r epresentatives were 

2 s a t i s f i e d w i t h regard t o the Government Number 2, what 

3 d i d they suggest t o us regarding the Government Number 1? 

4 A. The Government Number 1, as you know, i s again 

5 another t h r e e - t e n t h s of a mile f u r t h e r , almost twice the 

6 distance from the proposed w e l l as the Government Number 

7 2. 

8 And we had -- as Mr. V i l l a mentioned, we had, 

9 i n good f a i t h , obtained permission t o plug a l l f o u r of 

10 these w e l l s , pursuant t o the order. We had f i l e d the APD 

11 w i t h the BLM and had gotten t h a t approved f o r doing the 

12 work. We had a c t u a l l y signed agreements w i t h a l l of the 

13 landowners, and we had gone i n and prepared the s i t e f o r 

14 a l l of the w e l l s . That's how f a r we got on the 

15 Government Number 1. We were going t o move t o the 

16 Government 1 a f t e r we completed the Sims. 

17 But the D i v i s i o n said, "We're not even 

18 concerned about the Government Number 2 anymore. Why 

19 would you bother going back i n t o the Government Number 1, 

20 because i t ' s f a r t h e r away? And secondly, you're not 

21 going t o have any b e t t e r success i n the Government Number 

22 1, because" -- as opposed t o the Government Number 2, 

23 which had the 10-and-three-quarter-inch casing removed 

24 from 2,300 f e e t t o the surface, t h i s w e l l had the 

25 10-and-three-quarter-inch -- same k i n d of c o n d i t i o n , but 
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1 i t ' s removed from 5,500 f e e t t o the surface. So i t would 

2 have been even more d i f f i c u l t t o re-enter t h i s one. 

3 Q. I next d i r e c t your a t t e n t i o n t o Exhibit•Number 

4 1, which i s the s t i p u l a t i o n . 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Does the s t i p u l a t i o n a c c u r a t e l y r e f l e c t the 

7 OCD's p o s i t i o n t h a t the Government L Com Number 1 and 

8 Number 2 wellbores do not present a t h r e a t of being 

9 conduits f o r i n j e c t e d TAG? 

10 A. Yes, i t does. And i t furthermore states t h a t 

11 the D i v i s i o n believes i t ' s not necessary t o reduce e i t h e r 

12 the l i f e s p a n or the r a t e of TAG i n j e c t i o n . 

13 Q. And t h i s document was the culmination of 

14 discussions w i t h the D i v i s i o n over the course of several 

15 months? 

16 A. I would say over the course of about two 

17 months, yes, s i r . 

18 Q. And moving t o S l i d e Number 14, i s there 

19 anything more you want t o t e l l the Commission about the 

20 st a t u s of the Government Number 1? 

21 A. No. The Government Number 1 i s s i t t i n g there 

22 w i t h the surface prepared, and we're hoping we do not 

23 have t o re-enter i t or attempt t o re-enter i t . 

24 Q. And next I ' d l i k e you t o address the impact of 

25 your i n j e c t i o n t e s t i n g d u r i n g the r e - e n t r y of the Sims 

g ^ g ^ • - ^-1.u.u„1,„,11!.Ju^=^.... _ „.I„JI 
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1 Number 1. Could you e x p l a i n t o the Commissioners the 

2 data t h a t appears on Slide Number 15? 

3 A. Sure. Sl i d e Number 15 i s a summary of the 

4 i n j e c t i o n c o n d i t i o n s i n the w e l l , using the new data t h a t 

5 we obtained from the r e s e r v o i r t e s t i n g and the a d d i t i o n a l 

6 l o g a n a l y s i s . 

7 B a s i c a l l y , i t comes out w i t h e s s e n t i a l l y the 

8 same k i n d of c a l c u l a t i o n . There's s l i g h t d i f f e r e n c e i n 

9 the maximum allowable operating pressure because of the 

10 change i n composition of the TAG. That does a f f e c t the 

11 maximum allowable operating pressure, but not by very 

12 much. I t ' s a few p s i , b a s i c a l l y . 

13 And t h a t ' s because the de n s i t y of the TAG i s a 

14 l i t t l e b i t d i f f e r e n t when you have more C02 and less H2S, 

15 and so t h a t pressure changed a l i t t l e . But we're not 

16 requesting any m o d i f i c a t i o n because we f e e l t h i s 

17 pressure, the maximum allowable operating pressure, we're 

18 not going t o get anywhere close t o i t because of the 

19 co n d i t i o n s i n the r e s e r v o i r . 

2 0 What t h i s does i s then on t h i s t a b l e , i n the 

21 second red square there, you have o u t l i n e d the 

22 c a l c u l a t i o n t h a t r e s u l t s i n the new radius p r e d i c t e d f o r 

23 the 3 0-year plume. And t h a t ' s done e x a c t l y the same way 

24 we d i d i t before. I t j u s t i n p u ts the new data t h a t we 

25 obtained. 
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1 Q. Did you use t h i s i n j e c t i v i t y data i n 

2 performing the new modeling of the r e s e r v o i r plume t h a t 

3 you discussed? 

4 A. Yes, we d i d . 

5 Q. I ' d ask you t o move on t o Number 16. 

6 A. This s l i d e now shows what we believe t o be, 

7 again, a s t i l l conservative p r e d i c t i o n of the plume a f t e r 

8 30 years from the Agave Red H i l l s w e l l . 

9 Again, I w i l l mention t h a t we have not, i n 

10 e i t h e r the o r i g i n a l modeling or i n t h i s modeling, 

11 attempted t o take i n t o account the 10 t o 2 0 percent 

12 amount of m i n e r a l i z a t i o n t h a t has been shown i n the 

13 l i t e r a t u r e t o take place t h a t binds up the ac i d gas. 

14 Because geochemically, i t ' s very d i f f i c u l t t o 

15 r e a l l y c a l c u l a t e e x a c t l y what t h a t f a c t o r i s , we j u s t 

16 don't do i t . Because, i n f a c t , what i t would do i s 

17 reduce the plume size a l i t t l e b i t more. But since we 

18 don't f e e l l i k e we can do i t r e l i a b l y , we j u s t p r e f e r t o 

19 be a l i t t l e more conservative. 

2 0 Q. Would i t be f a i r t o say you're comfortable 

21 t h a t the formation of hydrides i n the geochemical complex 

22 of C02 occurs? I t ' s j u s t d i f f i c u l t t o q u a n t i f y the 

23 impact on the TAG? 

24 A. Yes. The l i t e r a t u r e demonstrates t h a t i t does 

25 occur, and i t has been noted. But i t requires some very 
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1 extensive modeling and w i t h data t h a t we don't even have 

2 f o r t h i s k i n d of s i t u a t i o n . 

3 Q. And how d i d the new modeling f a c t o r i n t o your 

4 conclusion and the OCD's conclusion t h a t the Government L 

5 Com Number 1 and Number 2 w e l l s are a safe distance from 

6 the Red H i l l s AGI well? 

7 A. I t h i n k the r e s e r v o i r c o n d i t i o n s , combined 

8 w i t h the -- from our perspective, as I t e s t i f i e d i n the 

9 o r i g i n a l hearing and as I t e s t i f i e d again i n the hearing 

10 r e l a t i v e t o the Smith Federal, we never f e l t those w e l l s 

11 presented a problem i n the f i r s t place. We thought they 

12 were f a r enough away, and t h a t the con d i t i o n s of how they 

13 were plugged were s u f f i c i e n t t o prevent an e f f e c t on 

14 those o v e r l y i n g or un d e r l y i n g zones. 

15 But now we have an even greater l e v e l of 

16 confidence. We even have -- the Sims Number 1 w e l l , 

17 which we d i d s u c c e s s f u l l y plug and which i s the closest 

18 w e l l -- I must have misspoken when I said e a r l i e r i t was 

19 about a quarter of a mile away, because t h i s radius i s .3 

20 miles. So i t ' s j u s t outside .3. I t ' s maybe l i k e .31 or 

21 .32, something l i k e t h a t . Even t h a t w e l l , i n i t s 

22 o r i g i n a l c o n d i t i o n , we d i d n ' t have a concern about. 

23 But I t h i n k a f t e r g e t t i n g t h i s new r e s e r v o i r 

24 data, the D i v i s i o n -- as w e l l as our a n a l y s i s , the 

25 D i v i s i o n ' s independent a n a l y s i s of t h a t data came up w i t h 
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1 the same conclusion. 

2 Q. D i r e c t i n g your a t t e n t i o n t o the f i n a l three 

3 s l i d e s , I ' l l leave i t t o you t o emphasize any p o i n t s you 

4 f e e l you haven't s u f f i c i e n t l y covered i n your testimony. 

5 A. I t r e a l l y comes down t o these seven p o i n t s on 

6 Sl i d e 17. The i n j e c t i o n t e s t r e s u l t s make us f e e l very 

7 comfortable about a b e t t e r understanding of the r e s e r v o i r 

8 and our re v i s e d modeling of the plume. 

9 The rev i s e d TAG volume and composition shows 

10 t h a t we've got much less H2S. So whi l e t h a t doesn't 

11 a f f e c t the composition s t r i c t l y , i t doesn't r e a l l y a f f e c t 

12 the extent of the plume, the r e v i s e d volumes of the TAG 

13 do. And those are based on the best a v a i l a b l e data t h a t 

14 we have at the present time. 

15 Q. You heard Mr. V i l l a ' s testimony t h a t there 

16 w i l l be some v a r i a t i o n s i n the composition, p a r t i c u l a r l y 

17 the amount of H2S. I s i t your view t h a t t h a t r e a l l y 

18 i s n ' t the d r i v i n g f a c t o r ? I t ' s the volume i n the TAG, 

19 r a t h e r than the composition? 

20 A. That's c o r r e c t . But we do have a reduction i n 

21 volume, too, of about 14 percent. So t h a t a f f e c t e d i t , 

22 as w e l l . 

23 Given the r e s e r v o i r c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s , and the 

24 current plugging c o n f i g u r a t i o n of a l l of the w e l l s , we 

25 f e e l very comfortable t h a t t h a t p r o t e c t s c l e a r l y any 
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1 production zones and w i l l prevent escape from the 

2 intended r e s e r v o i r . 

3 And then of course the distance of the w e l l s , 

4 we discussed t h a t i n d e t a i l , r e l a t i v e t o the p r o j e c t e d 

5 plume ex t e n t . 

6 Then comes the unfortunate r e a l i t y t h a t i t 1 s 

7 r e a l l y impossible t o go back i n and do those w e l l s 

8 anyway. Even i f we wanted t o , at t h i s p o i n t , we have 

9 made a very g o o d - f a i t h e f f o r t . Our c l i e n t has spent w e l l 

10 over a m i l l i o n d o l l a r s i n j u s t attempting t o plug the 

11 Number 2 and plugging the Sims Number 1. And we f e e l 

12 very s t r o n g l y t h a t we could spend t h a t much more again on 

13 the Government Number 1 and never be able t o plug i t , 

14 e i t h e r . 

15 And then l a s t , but not l e a s t , the D i v i s i o n has 

16 been a p a r t n e r a l l along i n the development and analysis 

17 of t h i s data, and they concur w i t h our analysis and 

18 support our request t o the Commission. 

19 Q. Anything you'd l i k e t o emphasize on the l a s t 

20 two s l i d e s ? 

21 A. Nope. I t h i n k they j u s t summarize the same 

22 t h i n g s we've already discussed. 

23 Q. I n your opinion, does the Government L Com 

24 Number 1, as c u r r e n t l y plugged, present a t h r e a t of 

25 becoming a conduit f o r i n j e c t e d TAG? 
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1 A. Ab s o l u t e l y not. 

2 Q. S i m i l a r l y , i n your o p i n i o n , w i l l the 

3 Government L Com 2, as re-plugged pursuant t o Agave's 

4 a l t e r n a t i v e plan, present a t h r e a t of being a conduit f o r 

5 TAG? 

6 A. I don't b e l i e v e so. 

7 Q. And i n your opinion, would a requirement by 

8 the Commission t h a t Agave d r i l l a monitor w e l l e i t h e r be 

9 necessary or appropriate under the circumstances 

10 presented? 

11 A. I don't t h i n k i t would be prudent. 

12 Q. I n your opinion, w i l l the r e l i e f requested by 

13 Agave present any t h r e a t whatsoever of p o t e n t i a l harm t o 

14 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , f r e s h water, human h e a l t h or the 

15 environment? 

16 A. No, a b s o l u t e l y not. 

17 The l a s t b u l l e t on my s l i d e there which says, 

18 "Geolex and Agave," I a c t u a l l y should add OCD. Because 

19 Geolex, Agave and OCD are confident t h a t the proposed 

20 modified program f u l l y p r o t e c t s c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , f r e s h 

21 water, human h e a l t h and the environment. 

22 MR. LARSON: Madam Chair, t h a t ' s a l l I 

23 have on d i r e c t f o r Mr. Gutierr e z . 
24 And I would move the admission of E x h i b i t 2, 

25 which i s the PowerPoint s l i d e s . 
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CHAIRMAN BAILEY: So admitted. 

2 ( E x h i b i t 2 was admitted.) 

3 MR. LARSON: Thank you. 

4 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Commissioner Dawson, do 

5 you have any questions? 

6 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have a few 

7 questions. 

8 EXAMINATION 

9 BY COMMISSIONER DAWSON: 

10 Q. Can you go back t o S l i d e 11, please? 

11 A. Yes, s i r . 

12 Q. On the washout, when you cemented the plug or 

13 cemented i n t o the washout -- and I beli e v e you said i t 

14 was 32 0 sacks i s what t h a t took? 

15 A. I beli e v e i t was l i k e 310 or 3 -- I t h i n k i t 

16 was 310. Yes, s i r . 

17 Q. Was OCD on s i t e when you performed t h a t 

18 cementing operation? 

19 A. I don't know i f they were on s i t e f o r the 

20 e n t i r e time, but they were on s i t e f o r p a r t of the time, 

21 yes. 

22 Q. So a f t e r you performed your cementing 

23 operation on t h a t washout, I was wondering i f they were 

24 there when you tagged t h a t p l ug t o measure the top of the 

25 plug. 
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1 A. I don't t h i n k they were there when we tagged 

2 the plug. But t h a t was a requirement t h a t the D i s t r i c t 

3 was s p e c i f i c a l l y very adamant about, t h a t we go back i n 

4 and tag the plug. You know, we c a l c u l a t e d the cement 

5 volume based on what we thought we understood about the 

6 washout, based on a l l of the d r i l l i n g t h a t we d i d , and we 

7 c a l c u l a t e d s u f f i c i e n t cement. Our i n t e n t was t o get t o 

8 2,300 f e e t , and we got t o 2,310. So we f e l t p r e t t y good 

9 about i t , t h a t we f i l l e d i t up. 

10 And we d i d provide a l l of t h a t data t o the 

11 D i v i s i o n i n a subsequent C-103, i n which we requested 

12 approval f o r t h i s r e v i s e d plugging program. And t h a t was 

13 accepted by the D i s t r i c t , f o r the record. But again, 

14 they couldn't approve i t because of the f a c t t h a t there 

15 was t h i s requirement i n the order. 

16 Q. Did they -- a f t e r you tagged the top of t h a t 

17 cement, d i d the OCD personnel f e e l t h a t was s u f f i c i e n t , 

18 t h a t t h a t d i d n ' t need t o be cemented t o the surface? Did 

19 they f e e l t h a t t h a t t ag at 2,310 was s u f f i c i e n t t o 

20 p r o t e c t any m i g r a t i o n upwards? 

21 A. No. We have a d d i t i o n a l work t o do on t h a t 

22 w e l l , which i s t o plug from 2,310 t o the surface, a 

23 number of d i f f e r e n t plugs, l i k e I described. So t h a t ' s 

24 where the a d d i t i o n a l 160,000 comes i n , i s t h a t we're 

2 5 going t o have t o go i n and squeeze and plug at the top of 
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1 the s a l t and then at the base of the surface casing and 

2 then from there t o the surface. 

3 Q. Roughly three t o f o u r plugs w i t h i n t h a t 

4 wellbore --

5 A. Yes, s i r . 

6 Q. -- from 2,310 t o the surface? 

7 A. Yes, s i r . Inside and out plugs. 

8 Q. Y o u ' l l squeeze those plugs? Do you plan on 

9 squeezing the top one, maybe, but --

10 A. The top two, we w i l l squeeze. The other one 

11 i s i n the open hole, so i t w i l l be a balance plug. 

12 Q. Did you consider -- whenever you d i d your new 

13 l o g on the Sims 1 duri n g your plugging operations on the 

14 Sims 1, d i d you ever consider maybe doing a s i d e w a l l core 

15 i n t h a t zone or t a k i n g a core of t h a t zone? 

16 A. We d i d not, because i t was cased. So we 

17 couldn't take any. 

18 Q. So the logs p r e t t y much -- the l o g data i s 

19 what you r e l i e d on? 

20 A. We r e l i e d on the i n j e c t i o n t e s t s , p r i m a r i l y . 

21 We d i d n ' t have new logs. We looked at a d d i t i o n a l logs i n 

22 the area t o look again at the i r r e d u c i b l e water 

23 s a t u r a t i o n . But we d i d n ' t have any new logs, per se, on 

24 the Sims Number 1. We had a d i r e c t i n j e c t i o n t e s t . 

25 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: No f u r t h e r 
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1 questions. Thank you. 

2 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Commissioner Balch? j 

3 COMMISSIONER BALCH: As you can imagine, I 

4 probably have a l o t of questions on modeling. I've j 

5 a c t u a l l y done my homework, so I'm going t o give you a 1 

6 l i t t l e warning. | 

7 I d i d have a student complete h i s master's j 

8 t h e s i s on C02 i n j e c t i o n i n the b r i n e a q u i f e r s i n May. 1 

9 And a f t e r the January hearing, I had him do some | 
| 

10 a d d i t i o n a l work because I was curious. So I may know J 
1 

11 more than I d i d before. ; 

12 EXAMINATION 

13 BY COMMISSIONER BALCH: \ 

14 Q. So how deep i s the Sims? Did i t penetrate 

15 through the Cherry Canyon? [ 

16 A. Yes, s i r . I t goes a c t u a l l y way down below the 

17 Wolfcamp. 

18 Q. Where i s the next plug down there? 

19 A. I'm going t o have t o look at my --

20 MR. LARSON: Sl i d e 13. 

21 
! 

Q. I t looks l i k e there's some cement somewhere i n 

22 the Cherry Canyon. 

23 A. Yeah. I t h i n k t h a t ' s the cement t h a t we put 

1 
24 i n . 

25 Q. So the next plug would be down there at --
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1 A. I t ' s j u s t above the Wolfcamp there. 

2 Q. But you have a good 1,2 00 f e e t or so? There's 

3 no p e r f s anywhere i n t h a t i n t e r v a l ? You di d n ' t p e r f your 

4 i n j e c t i v i t y t ests? 

5 A. That's c o r r e c t . There's no p e r f s i n there. 

6 Q. You were going through whatever current casing 

7 there was, not dropping i t down? 

8 A. No, no. We perfed i n the Cherry Canyon zone 

9 t o do our t e s t s . But there were no pe r f s there before. 

10 Q. Did you p u l l a water sample while you were 

11 down there? 

12 A. We d i d not. 

13 Q. Water chemistry has a large impact on 

14 s o l u b i l i t y and r e s i d u a l C02 s a t u r a t i o n , as w e l l as 

15 m i n e r a l i z a t i o n ? 

16 A. I t does. 

17 Q. That's why I was curious. 

18 I t h i n k , from l o o k i n g at the t a b l e on 15, t h a t 

19 your C02 i s s t i l l going t o be s u p e r c r i t i c a l --

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. - - a t t h a t bot tomhole . 

22 A. A b s o l u t e l y . 

23 Q. That was my c a l c u l a t i o n . I ' v e got about 4,000 

24 tons a day. I ' m used t o t h i n k i n g i n tons because t h a t ' s 

25 the way the models t h a t were b u i l t f o r me were done. 
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1 The models t h a t the student worked on were f o r 

2 Gordon Creek i n Utah. And t h a t ' s c u r r e n t l y a sa l t w a t e r 

3 i n j e c t i o n w e l l t h a t sucks 5,000 b a r r e l s a day of water. 

4 You do see pressure increase when you add C02 

5 i n t o t h a t k i n d of an a q u i f e r , not nece s s a r i l y i n your 

6 wellbore, but you see i t away from the wellbore. 

7 A. Due t o the displacement? 

8 Q. Well, you're b a s i c a l l y p u t t i n g something i n 

9 t h a t comes gums up the works. The C02 doesn't move as 

10 q u i c k l y . So as you go away from the wellbore, you get 

11 l i k e a doughnut of pressure t h a t goes out. And you can 

12 a c t u a l l y measure t h a t w i t h microseismic monitoring and 

13 put a passive seismic array down the borehole. We 

14 measured t h i s f o r a C02 f l o o d , and t h a t pressure f l o o d 

15 moves w e l l ahead of any a c t u a l C02 t h a t you might see. 

16 Your model i s p u r e l y v o l u m e t r i c , i f I remember 

17 r i g h t ? 

18 A. Tha t ' s c o r r e c t . 

19 Q. So t h e r e ' s no r e s i d u a l s a tu ra t ion? There 's 

2 0 no - -

21 A. No. We take i n t o account the r e s i d u a l water 

22 s a t u r a t i o n . We reduce the p o r o s i t y by t h a t r e s i d u a l 

23 water s a t u r a t i o n . 

24 Q. What about s o l u b i l i t y ? 

25 A. We d o n ' t r e a l l y at tempt t o take s o l u b i l i t y 
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1 i n t o account. We j u s t displace the e n t i r e amount. 

2 Q. And then the t h i r d t h i n g i s m i n e r a l i z a t i o n . 

3 And t h a t ' s r e a l l y something t h a t happens over -- I mean 

4 you get a l i t t l e b i t r i g h t away, but i t ' s r e a l l y hundreds 

5 t o thousands of years --

6 A. Yes, s i r . 

7 Q. That's k i n d of the u l t i m a t e f a t e of the C02, 

8 not anything t o do w i t h the e a r l y p a r t . Most of the 

9 e a r l y i s going t o be r e s i d u a l or so l u b l e , and t h a t ' s 

10 going t o reduce your e f f e c t i v e volume of f r e e C02. I 

11 t h i n k I brought t h i s up i n the January hearing. 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. And i n h e r e n t l y making your model even more 

14 conservative? 

15 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

16 Q. The model t h a t my student ran a c t u a l l y was 

17 about three times the C02 r a t e , compared t o what you are 

18 proposing f o r t h i s w e l l . I n every case, w i t h i n a couple 

19 of years, even doing j u s t C02, you would see a p r e t t y 

2 0 good pressure spike. You d i d n ' t get q u i t e up t o the 

21 l e v e l of the p a r t i n g pressure of the rocks, but you d i d 

22 see t h a t spike somewhere i n the v i c i n i t y of the wellbore. 

23 Not at the wellbore, but where t h a t pressure f r o n t i s 

24 moving through the rocks. 

25 So t h a t ' s why I brought up the idea of 
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1 monitoring or the question of monitoring. And I was 

2 t h i n k i n g more of passive seismic, t o see i f you're 

3 breaking rock. And t h a t would be a c o n t r o l on whether or 

4 not you're exceeding pressure i n the r e s e r v o i r . 

5 A. Could I ask a question about what you --

6 Q. Sure. 

7 A. I'm curious. When h i s model showed the 

8 movement of t h a t pressure f r o n t d u r i n g the i n j e c t i o n , 

9 what about when he would stop the i n j e c t i o n ? What would 

10 happen then? 

11 Q. When you stop the i n j e c t i o n , what happens i s , 

12 even though you have a r e s e r v o i r t h a t ' s overpressured and 

13 i s r e g i o n a l l y extensive, i n the area t h a t we modeled, 

14 which was several square miles around the i n j e c t i o n 

15 r e s e r v o i r , the net e f f e c t a f t e r , say, 1,000 years was 1 

16 about an 8 0 p s i increase i n pressure, so a much l a r g e r 

17 r a t e . And then also i n j e c t i n g 10,000 b a r r e l s a day of 

18 water. 

19 A. Oh, on top of that? 

20 Q. On top of t h a t . But even w i t h the C02, you 

21 saw the same t h i n g . I t was j u s t a l i t t l e b i t smaller. 

22 So you do see an increase i n the l o c a l pressure. 

23 Now, i f you draw t h a t out t o the i l l o g i c a l 

24 extreme, l i k e 10 m i l l i o n years or something, then i t ' s 

25 going t o equalize much more. 
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1 And then also, the C02, because i t ' s 

2 underpressured, y o u ' l l see the C02 d i f f u s i n g away from 

3 the wellbore. 

4 A. I was j u s t curious. Because as an example, i n 

5 t h i s other w e l l t h a t we worked on, the Lineham w e l l , t h a t 

6 had a t u b i n g leak. And we had t o work over t h a t w e l l 

7 when we k i l l e d t h a t w e l l . And then i t sat there f o r some 

8 p e r i o d of time a f t e r we d i d the workover. And then we 

9 went back i n t o i t and were reevacuating the w e l l t o set 

10 i t back up. Even a f t e r I guess i t was about e i g h t or 

11 nine days, the w e l l was s t i l l on vacuum, even i n the 

12 immediate v i c i n i t y of the w e l l . 

13 Q. What was your t o t a l volume of i n j e c t a t e t o 

14 t h a t point? 

15 A. I t was roughly about three and a h a l f t o fo u r 

16 and a h a l f m i l l i o n a day f o r about three years. 

17 Q. mcf? 

18 A. Yes. That's a f a i r l y low r a t e , compared t o 

19 what we're t a l k i n g about. 

20 Q. To what you were doing there? 

21 A. Yes. And I t h i n k also even t o what you're 

22 t a l k i n g about doing at Red H i l l s . 

23 A. Right. I t ' s about 50 percent greater at Red 

24 H i l l s , yeah. 

25 Q. And a l so , our model i s p robably going t o have 
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1 the same p o r o s i t y p e r m e a b i l i t y t h a t you have there. I 1 

2 j u s t wanted you t o be aware of t h a t pressure and the 

3 p o t e n t i a l f o r your bottomhole t o look okay, and you s t i l l 

4 have a chance t o break rocks away. j 

5 A. That's a good p o i n t . Maybe afterwards I could 

6 get h i s t h e s i s so I could take a look at i t . 

7 Q. I could give you the name, and you can go t o j 

8 New Mexico Tech and get i t . His study was a c t u a l l y I 

9 in v o l v e d w i t h the t r a n s p o r t of C02 through o u t l e t s , out 

10 through w e l l s , out through p o t e n t i a l f a u l t . And the bulk | 

11 of h i s modeling was done w i t h an assortment of very | 

12 transmissive f a u l t s going up several thousand f e e t from 

13 the i n j e c t i o n horizon. And i n p a r t , because of the j 

14 underpressured r e s e r v o i r , he had a d i f f i c u l t time g e t t i n g ! 

15 C02 t o go up i n s i g n i f i c a n t q u a n t i t i e s . j 

16 A. Even i n open f a u l t s ? 

17 Q. Yes, even in open faults, 100 percent open \ 

18 f a u l t s . B a s i c a l l y , you're j u s t f i l l i n g up the volume, | 

19 because you're d e a l i n g w i t h a l a r g e l y underpressured | 

20 s i t u a t i o n . 

21 A. Right. ] 

22 COMMISSIONER BALCH: And I t h i n k i n the 1 

23 o r i g i n a l hearing I mentioned t h a t I wasn't t e r r i b l y I 

24 concerned about C02 moving up through w e l l s i n the f i r s t 

25 place, and t h a t modeling makes me f e e l a l i t t l e b e t t e r j 
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1 about t h a t now. You're i n the modeling business, so you 

2 know how good a model i s . 

3 That's why we t a l k about monitoring, because 

4 you want t o get some w e l l data i n your process t h a t w i l l 

5 t e l l you t h a t your model i s c o r r e c t . Or i f you want t o 

6 adjust your model, whether i t ' s from microseismic or 

7 sampling the water i n some d i s t a n t w e l l or something, I 

8 t h i n k i t ' s probably a good idea, over a 3 0-year p r o j e c t , 

9 t o understand i f your model i s working the way you t h i n k 

10 i t i s . Sorry about t h a t , j u s t a p h i l o s o p h i c a l 

11 discussion. 

12 I t h i n k t h a t ' s a l l I have f o r questions. 

13 MR. BRANCARD: Madam Chair, may I ask a 

14 few questions? 

15 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: I'm not through. 

16 MR. BRANCARD: Oh. Well, you go l a s t , 

17 unless you'd l i k e me t o go l a s t . I don't care. 

18 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Sure. Go ahead. 

19 EXAMINATION 

2 0 BY MR. BRANCARD: 

21 Q. Just so we're not o f f t r a c k w i t h what the 

22 Commission decided at the l a s t hearing before us, at the 

23 previous hearing you t e s t i f i e d and the Commission r e l i e d 

24 on what you c a l l e d a s a f e t y f a c t o r , i n which you took 

25 your zone t h a t you were p r o j e c t i n g and then gave i t a 
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1 three times s a f e t y f a c t o r and sa i d t h a t the w e l l -- t h a t 

2 you d i d n ' t want us -- what you wanted us t o drop out was 

3 beyond t h a t three times s a f e t y f a c t o r ? 

4 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

5 Q. You've not t a l k e d about s a f e t y f a c t o r i n t h i s 

6 hearing. 

7 A. For the Government 1, which i s about the same 

8 distance as the Smith Federal, which was the subject of 

9 the l a s t hearing, the s a f e t y f a c t o r would be even greater 

10 . now because the o r i g i n a l size of the plume has shrunk. 

11 I f you ap p l i e d the same s a f e t y f a c t o r t o t h i s , i t would 

12 encounter the Government Number 2. 

13 Q. And I j u s t d i d some -- j u s t f o r the record, I 

14 d i d some quick p e n c i l and paper c a l c u l a t i o n s . I f you had 

15 a .30 radi u s , three times i t , I c a l c u l a t e i t as .52. 

16 Did you come up w i t h a s i m i l a r --

17 A. Well, I haven't done the c a l c u l a t i o n . But 

18 i t ' s not r e a l l y a s t r a i g h t r a d i a l c a l c u l a t i o n . Because 

19 • every time t h a t you -- as the radius expands, i t takes 

20 more and more volume t o make i t expand the same distance. 

21 I don't know. I j u s t would have t o do the c a l c u l a t i o n . 

22 Q. I d i d i t based on square r o o t s . That's how I 

23 got t o the .52. 

24 A. R i g h t . But you c a n ' t r e a l l y j u s t do i t t h a t 

25 way. Because the f a c t i s t h a t you have t o take i n t o 
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1 account the added -- when you're t a l k i n g about a s a f e t y 

2 f a c t o r i n t h i s k i n d of a p p l i c a t i o n , what you're t a l k i n g 

3 about i s boosting the amount of gas going i n t o the 

4 r e s e r v o i r , and then you have t o take i n t o account how 

5 much a d d i t i o n a l p o r o s i t y i s t a k i n g place going out. So I 

6 don't know what the r e s u l t would be. 

7 Q. Okay. At the l a s t hearing, you also, t o 

8 b o l s t e r your argument, mentioned t h a t i t may not be 

9 moving i n a p e r f e c t concentric c i r c l e , due t o the angles 

10 or the slope of the formation? 

11 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

12 Q. Did your r e s u l t s from the Sims w e l l give you 

13 any i n d i c a t i o n about the formation and depths and how i t 

14 might d i f f e r i n where the movement i s and i n which 

15 d i r e c t i o n ? 

16 A. Nothing, other than what we had before. 
17 Because we already knew what the top was, and we knew 

18 what the d i p of the formation was. Although, again, I 

19 b e l i e v e t h a t the impact of the d i p -- the d i p i s shallow 

20 enough there t h a t i t ' s going t o have a very minor impact. 

21 Q. On page 19, you i n d i c a t e t h a t the Cherry 

22 Canyon zone at the top i s 6,150? 

23 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

24 Q. I n your document f o r the Sims w e l l , you put 

25 the top of the cement at 6,197, so t h a t ' s a considerable 
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1 d i f f e r e n c e t here. 

2 A. Right. But you're about .3 miles away, p r e t t y 

3 much, i n the d i r e c t updip d i r e c t i o n . 

4 Q. So which -- i f there's going t o be a bulge i n 

5 the .3, i n which d i r e c t i o n are you going t o see t h a t 

6 bulge, updip, downdip? Which d i r e c t i o n i s that? 

7 A. The d i p d i r e c t i o n i s towards the -- b a s i c a l l y , 

8 southeast. So whatever -- a l l t h i n g s being equal, you 

9 would see a k i n d of oblonging of t h a t plume t o the 

10 northwest. 

11 Q. That's the opposite d i r e c t i o n of the w e l l s 

12 t h a t you were working on? 

13 A. Yes, s i r . 

14 Q. I'm glad you corrected your o r i g i n a l statement 

15 about the distance of the Smith w e l l . Because the Smith 

16 w e l l i s a c t u a l l y outside t h i s .3 p r o j e c t e d zone; correct? 

17 A. Oh, yes. I t was outside the .39 p r o j e c t e d 

18 zone. 

19 Q. The data you're using now f o r the r e s e r v o i r i s 

20 coming from someplace t h a t i s outside of where you're 

21 p r o j e c t i n g the gas t o go t o i n 3 0 years? 

22 A. That's c o r r e c t . j 

23 Q. Would you be -- are you planning t o do a 

24 s i m i l a r t e s t on the zone when you d r i l l the Red H i l l s 

25 well? 
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1 A. No. We're planning t o do s i g n i f i c a n t l y more 

2 t e s t i n g . I n t h a t w e l l , we plan t o core i t and do d i r e c t 

3 p e r m e a b i l i t y and p o r o s i t y measurements both of the 

4 Caprock and the i n j e c t i o n zone i t s e l f . And we w i l l do a 

5 long-term i n j e c t i o n t e s t of t h a t zone w i t h bottomhole 

6 gauges, and we w i l l take formation -- or attempt t o take 

7 formation f l u i d samples, as w e l l . 

8 So we're going t o do s i g n i f i c a n t l y more 

9 t e s t i n g and logging of t h a t w e l l and have a l o t more 

10 i n f o r m a t i o n when we d r i l l t h a t w e l l . 

11 Q. Are you o b l i g a t e d at t h i s p o i n t t o r e c a l c u l a t e 

12 your estimates at t h a t p o i n t and rep o r t i t t o the OCD? 

13 A. That i s not a cur r e n t requirement, but i t i s 

14 not a requirement t h a t I would have any problem w i t h at 

15 a l l . I mean we would probably do i t anyway. 

16 Because i t ' s our p r a c t i c e , even though we're 

17 not re q u i r e d t o do t h i s , t h a t on every one of these w e l l s 

18 t h a t we complete, we submit t o the OCD what we c a l l a 

19 f i n a l end-of-well r e p o r t . And t h a t r e p o r t has a l l of the 

20 core data, a l l of the logs, a l l of the modeling, a l l of 

21 the a d d i t i o n a l work t h a t we do. And we provide t h a t 

22 v o l u n t a r i l y t o the D i v i s i o n on every w e l l t h a t we do, and 

23 t h i s would be no d i f f e r e n t 

24 MR. BRANCARD: Thank you, Madam Chair. 

25 

J 
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1 EXAMINATION 

2 BY CHAIRMAN BAILEY: 

3 Q. Let's go t o S l i d e 6. Several times you've 

4 commented t h a t the Government 1 w i l l have or does have 

5 s i m i l a r c o n d i t i o n s t o the Government Number 2. But there 

6 hasn't been any r e - e n t r y attempt, has there? 

7 A. No. 

8 Q. So t h i s i s based s o l e l y on forms t h a t would 

9 have been f i l e d w i t h the OCD t o i n d i c a t e where the casing 

10 has been cut o f f ? 

11 A. Yes. We found, from the Government Number 2, 

12 f o r example, t h a t t h a t was very accurate. I mean the 

13 casing was supposed t o be cut o f f at 2,3 70, and we 

14 encountered the top of the c u t o f f casing at about 2,3 73 

15 or so. 

16 Q. Are the operators the same f o r the Government 

17 Number 1 and Number 2? 

18 A. I don't know the answer t o t h a t . 

19 Q. So we don't know i f the s i m i l a r p r a c t i c e s of 

2 0 throwing junk down the hole could go f o r Government 1 as 

21 you found i n Government 2? 

22 A. That's c o r r e c t , we don't know. No, we don't. 

23 Q. So the assumption was made t h a t Government 1 

24 i s s i m i l a r t o Government 2. But we r e a l l y don't know, 

25 because nobody has made a re-entry? 
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1 A. I t h i n k we know, based on the plugging 

2 records, t h a t Government Number 1 w i l l be more d i f f i c u l t 

3 t o re-enter even than Government Number 2, even i f you 

4 don't have a l l t h a t junk i n the hole, because the c u t o f f 

5 casing i s approximately almost 3,000 f e e t lower than the 

6 c u t o f f casing was i n the Government Number 2. So you've 

7 got t h a t much more open hole t h a t you have t o thread the 

8 needle through t o get back i n t o t h a t casing. 

9 So t h a t ' s the main f a c t o r t h a t we bel i e v e 

10 makes the Government Number 1 more d i f f i c u l t than the 

11 Government Number 2. 

12 Q. On Sl i d e Number 6, you mentioned newer logs 

13 f o r i n d i c a t i o n s of the water s a t u r a t i o n . 

14 Were those newer logs i n the Sims, or are they 

15 from nearby wells? 

16 A. We b a s i c a l l y cast a wider net i n the Cherry 

17 Canyon so t h a t we included a d d i t i o n a l logs t h a t had not 

18 been included i n the o r i g i n a l a n a l y s i s . 

19 Q. So these newer logs you referenced may not be 

20 w i t h i n the two-mile --

21 A. Oh, no. They're w i t h i n two miles, yes. 

22 They're not n e c e s s a r i l y w i t h i n the h a l f m i l e . 

23 Q. The next s l i d e , i s t h a t a surface top hole, or 

24 i s t h a t the top of the Cherry Canyon? 

25 A. That's a surface top hole. 
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1 Q. So we can't make any inferences from the 

2 Cherry Canyon from those --

3 A. No, not at a l l . 

4 Q. My question of the day i s : What i s a n i g h t 

5 cap as referenced i n S l i d e 8? 

6 A. A n i g h t cap i s b a s i c a l l y a welded piece of 

7 s t e e l on the top of the casing so t h a t you can't -- so 

8 t h a t no one can f a l l i n the hole or drop s t u f f i n there. 

9 But i t ' s not a BOP, f o r example. 

10 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Those were a l l my 

11 questions. 

12 Do you have any f o l l o w up? 

13 MR. LARSON: I do not have any, Madam 

14 Chairman. 

15 I f I might ask your indulgence f o r a f i v e - or 

16 10-minute break so I can confer w i t h my c l i e n t s ? 

17 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Sure. Take 10 and be 

18 back at f i v e a f t e r 11:00. 

19 (A recess was taken.) 

2 0 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Back on the record. 

21 Did you have any closing? 

22 MR. LARSON: A b r i e f c l o s i n g . 

23 Madam Chair, Commissioners, t h i s has been a 

24 prolonged process on Agave's a p p l i c a t i o n t o i n j e c t i n the 

25 Red H i l l s AGI w e l l . 
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1 As you r e c a l l , Kaiser-Francis appeared at the 

2 o r i g i n a l hearing opposing the a p p l i c a t i o n . We have 

3 subsequently given Kaiser-Francis n o t i c e of our second 

4 motion, which was withdrawing t h i s amended motion, the 

5 f i r s t motion i n v o l v i n g the Smith Federal, and Kaiser has 

6 chosen not t o appear and oppose our p r e s e n t a t i o n . 

7 As you're aware, the OCD completely concurs 

8 w i t h the r e l i e f we're requesting today. And w i t h t h a t 

9 said, I would ask t h a t our motion be granted and t h a t the 

10 Commission r e l i e v e the requirement of p u t t i n g a balance 

11 plug across the Government Number 2 and r e q u i r i n g Agave 

12 t o re-enter and re-plug the Government L Com Number 1. 

13 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l r i g h t . Thank you. 

14 We w i l l go i n t o executive session, i n 

15 accordance w i t h the s t a t u t e s and the Open Meetings Act, 

16 t o d e l i b e r a t e t h i s case, and then we w i l l announce the 

17 d e c i s i o n of the Commission coming back out of executive 

18 session. So at t h i s p o i n t , we need t o c l e a r the room. 

19 Do I hear a motion? 

20 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I ' l l make a motion 

21 t h a t we go i n t o closed session. 

22 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l second. 

23 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: A l l those i n favor? 

24 (Whereupon the Commission went i n t o executive session.) 

25 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Back on the record. 
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1 I n conformance w i t h s t a t e s t a t u t e and the Open 

2 Meetings Act, do I hear a motion f o r us t o go back i n t o 

3 session? 

4 COMMISSIONER BALCH: I ' l l make the motion. 

5 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: And I ' l l second. 

6 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: The only t o p i c s t h a t 

7 were discussed had t o do w i t h t h i s case. And we have 

8 reached a d e c i s i o n f o r t h i s case, and our Commission 

9 counsel has a l l of the i n f o r m a t i o n . 

10 Mr. Larson, we w i l l ask you t o create a d r a f t 

11 order based on the decisions t h a t our Commission counsel 

12 w i l l read t o you. 

13 MR. BRANCARD: Okay. F i r s t of a l l , the 

14 Commission agrees w i t h the motion t o el i m i n a t e the 

15 requirement t h a t Agave place a balance plug i n the 

16 Government L Com Number 2 w e l l across the i n j e c t i o n zone 

17 and d i r e c t s Agave t o move ahead w i t h the cementing and 

18 plugging plan t h a t i t has proposed t o f i n i s h up t h a t 

19 w e l l . 

2 0 For the Government L Com Number 1 w e l l , the 

21 requirement t h a t Agave re-enter and re-plug t h i s w e l l i s 

22 delayed f o r a p e r i o d of f i v e years from the commencement 

23 of i n j e c t i o n of a c i d gas on t h i s p r o j e c t . 

24 Six months p r i o r t o t h a t f i v e - y e a r 

25 anniversary, Agave i s d i r e c t e d t o submit data and r e s u l t s 
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from the i n j e c t i o n t h a t has occurred duri n g the f i r s t 

2 four years of i n j e c t i o n , and w i t h t h a t , any r e c a l c u l a t i o n 

3 of the models t h a t have been developed based on the 

4 c u r r e n t estimates of pressure or p o r o s i t y , e t cetera. 

5 At t h a t time, Agave may then reapply t o 

6 e l i m i n a t e the requirement on the Government L Com Number 

7 1 i f i t i s supported by the data at t h a t time. And i n 

8 t h a t , i f there i s any new d r i l l i n g i n the area of review 

9 t h a t has occurred d u r i n g t h a t p e r i o d , Agave should also 

10 r e p o r t t h a t t o the D i v i s i o n . 

11 There's been a l o t of discussion about the 

12 percentage of H2S. There i s a c t u a l l y no l i m i t a t i o n 

13 c u r r e n t l y i n the order w i t h t h i s w e l l . The Commission 

14 would l i k e Agave t o have the r e s p o n s i b i l i t y t h a t i f i t 

15 determines t h a t the sources t h a t are coming i n t o the w e l l 

16 exceed the 5 percent l i m i t a t i o n t h a t was e a r l i e r 

17 discussed, t h a t Agave r e p o r t t h a t t o the D i v i s i o n and 

18 Commission. 

19 Did I cover everything? 

20 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: I beli e v e so. 

21 MR. BRANCARD: Okay. 

22 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: And we r e t a i n 

23 j u r i s d i c t i o n . 

24 MR. BRANCARD: And we r e t a i n j u r i s d i c t i o n 

25 t o r e - v i s i t t h i s . 
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1 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: So you w i l l be i n 

2 communication w i t h our counsel and present t h a t d r a f t 

3 order so t h a t we can sign i t i n December at our --

4 COMMISSIONER BALCH: 7th or --

5 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: -- Commission hearing 

6 t h a t ' s scheduled i n December? 

7 MR. LARSON: I w i l l , Madam Chair. And 

8 I ' l l t r y t o have i t t o him s u f f i c i e n t l y i n advance of the 

9 hearing date. 

10 COMMISSIONER BALCH: That hearing i s on 

11 the 6th of December. 

12 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: I s there any other 

13 business before the Commission today? Then we can c a l l 

14 i t a day. 

15 MR. BRANCARD: Stand adjourned 

16 CHAIRMAN BAILEY: Stand adjourned. 

17 (The hearing was adjourned at 12:00 p.m.) 
18 

19 
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